COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT



MOUNT VERNON SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 320 AND MOUNT VERNON EDUCATION ASSOCIATION

9/1/2017 - 8/31/2018

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE I.	ADMINISTRATION	Page 1
Section 1.	Purpose	1
Section 2. A. B. C. D. E. F.	Recognition Individual Contract Printing and Distribution Management Rights No-Strike Provision	1 1 1 1 2 3 3
Section 3.	Role of Para-educator	3
Section 4. A. B.	Collective Bargaining Structure and Procedure Waivers Financial Hardship Process	4 4 4
Section 5. A. B. C.		4 4 5 5
Section 6.	Non-Discrimination	5
ARTICLE II.	BUSINESS	6
Section 1.	Association Security, Dues and Representation Fees	6
ARTICLE III.	PERSONNEL	7
Section 1.	Rights, Responsibilities, Authority and Protection of Teachers	7
A. B. C.	Teacher Responsibilities Employee Responsibility and Right to Discipline Written Building Guidelines and Procedures and Annual Review	7 7
D. E. F. G.	Board and Administration Support Health and Safety Student Offenses Disruption of Class Activity	8 8 8 9
H.	Discipline of Special Education Students	9

I. J. K. L. M.	Right to Defend Self or Others Timely Administrative Response Right to Recommend Suspension or Expulsion Employee Protection Home Visits	10 10 10 10 11
Section 2. A.	Certificated Employee Staff Reduction Procedures for Staff Reduction 1. Determination of Vacant Positions 2. Certification 3. Employment Categories 4. Rate of Reduction 5. Qualification within Employment Category 6. Selection within Employment Categories 7. Action by the Superintendent 8. Employment Pool 9. Certificated Employee's Seniority List	11 11 11 11 12 12 12 13 14
Section 3.	Assignments/Reassignments and Transfers	14
Section 4.	In-District Position Change Request	17
Section 5.	Job Sharing	18
Section 6.	Certificated Employee Personnel Files	19
Section 7.	Release of Names	20
Section 8.	Certificated Substitutes	21
ARTICLE IV.	SALARY AND BENEFITS	23
Section 1.	Annual Salaries	23
Section 2.	Miscellaneous Salary Provisions	24
Section 3.	Insurance Contributions	24
Section 4.	Payroll Deductions	25
Section 5.	Contract Days	26
Section 6. A. B. C. D.	Additional Compensation Professional Responsibility Stipend Supplemental Hours Professional Support Financial Arrangements	27 27 29 30 31

	Section 7.	Rate of Pay	31
	Section 8.	Support Personnel Schedule	32
	Section 9.	Extra-Curricular/Co-Curricular Schedule	32
	Section 10.	Early Notification	32
ARTI	CLE V.	LEAVES	35
	Section 1.	Leave Calculations	35
	Section 2. A.	Sick Leave (Temporary Disability/Emergency Leave) Definition of Temporary Disability/Emergency Leave	35 35
	В.	Use and Definition of Temporary Disability/ Emergency Leave	35
	C. D. E. F. G.	Accrual of Temporary Disability/Emergency Leave Childbearing Disabilities Reporting Disability Proof of Disability Absence Employee's Return to Work	36 36 37 37
		. ,	
		Bereavement Leave	38
		Childcare Leave (Newly Born Child)	38
	Section 5.	Child Rearing Leave	39
	Section 6.	Adoptive Leave	39
	Section 7.	Personal Leave	39
	Section 8.	Health Leave	40
	Section 9.	Judicial Leave	41
	Section 10.	Military Leave	41
	Section 11.	Professional Service Leave	41
	Section 12.	Other Leaves	41
	Section 12	Return From Leaves	4 1

Section 14.	Leave Sharing	42
Section 15.	Association Business Released Time	42
ARTICLE VI.	GENERAL WORKING CONDITIONS	44
Section 1.	Academic Freedom	44
Section 2.	Intellectual Property Rights	44
Section 3. A. B.	Acceptable Use Policy Purpose Privacy Issue	44 44 45
Section 4. A. B.	Preparation and Conference Time Elementary Secondary	45 45 46
Section 5.	Covering of Classes	47
Section 6. A. B. C. D. E. F. G.	District Class Size/Workload Class Size Limits Waivers Class Size/Workload Support Process Support Class size/Workload Support Allocation Fund Limitations Conditions	48 49 49 49 50 51
Section 7.	Split Grade Level Classes	51
Section 8.	Faculty Facilities	51
Section 9.	Classroom Para-professionals	52
Section 10.	Employee's Reimbursable Expenses	53
Section 11.	Classroom Visitations	53
Section 12.	Student Teachers and Interns	54
Section 13.	Overnight Supervision, Camp Orkila and Mountain School	54
ARTICLE VII.	EVALUATION	55
Section 1.	Purpose	55

Section 2.	Applicability of Teacher/Principal Evaluation Program (TPEP)	55
Section 3.	Professional Development	55
Section 4.	Definition	56
Section 5. A. B. C. D.	Criteria, Framework, and Scoring State Evaluation Criteria Instructional Framework Criteria Performing Scoring Summative Performance Rating for the Comprehensive Evaluation Student Growth Criterion Score for Comprehensive Evaluation	57 58 58 59 60
Section 6. A. B. C. D. E.	Procedural Components of Evaluation Notification Teacher Self-Assessment Student Growth Goal Setting Unscheduled (Informal) Observation Record-Keeping and Utilization of eVAL	61 61 61 62 62 63
Section 7. A. B. C. D. E.	Comprehensive Evaluation Pre-observation Conference Formal Observation Post-Observation Conference Summative Evaluation Conference Evaluators	63 63 64 64 65 66
Section 8.	Evaluation Results	66
Section 9.	Support for Basic or Unsatisfactory Continuing Employees	66
Section 10.	Probation	67
Section 11.	Non-Renewal (Discharge)	71
Section 12.	Focused Evaluation	71
Section 13. A. B. C.	Non-Classroom Teacher Evaluation Evaluation Long Form Evaluation General Requirements	72 72 73 74

ARTICLE VIII.	MEDIATION/GRIEVANCE	82
Section 1.	Procedure	82
A.	Definitions	82
В.	"Days"	82
C.	Time Limits	82
D.	Representation	82
E.	Freedom from Reprisal	83
F.	Assistance in Investigations	83
G.	Release from Duty	83
Section 2.	Steps	83
A.	Step I	83
В.	Step II	83
C.	Step III	84
D.	Step IV	84
ARTICLE IX.	DURATION - TERM OF AGREEMENT	87

APPENDIX I.	MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING-ASSESSMENT COMMITTEE
APPENDIX II.	MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING-EXTRA DAYS FOR SPECIALISTS
APPENDIX III.	REQUEST FOR WAIVER OF COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT
APPENDIX IV.	PROFESSIONAL LEARNING COMMUNITIES GUIDELINES
APPENDIX V.	2017-2018 TRI SCHEDULE
APPENDIX VI.	JOB SHARING APPLICATION INSTRUCTIONS
APPENDIX VII.	MARZANO-COMPREHENSIVE EVALUATION SCORING

ARTICLE I. ADMINISTRATION

Section I. Purpose

The Mount Vernon School District Board of Directors, hereinafter referred to as the "District" and the Mount Vernon Education Association, hereinafter referred to as the "Association" have reached certain understandings pursuant to Chapter 41.59 RCW which they desire to confirm in this Collective Bargaining Agreement.

Section 2. Status of Agreement

A. Recognition

The Board recognizes the Association as the sole and exclusive bargaining representative for all certificated educational employees of the District, including substitutes as defined in Article III except the following:

- Superintendent
- Assistant Superintendent
- Executive Director(s)
- Principals
- Assistant Principal
- Directors
- Assistant Directors
- Confidential employees as defined by RCW 41.59

Unless the context in which they are used clearly requires otherwise, words in this Agreement denoting gender shall include both the masculine and feminine and words denoting number shall include both the singular and plural.

B. Individual Contract

The District will agree to add Standard and Supplemental Contract forms as appendices, but such contract forms shall be designated: "Attached to this Agreement for information and reference only, not as an integral part of this Agreement."

C. Printing and Distribution

Within 30 days following ratification and signing of the "Collective Bargaining Agreement between Mount Vernon School District No. 320 and the Mount Vernon Education Association", the District shall print and the Association shall distribute copies of the Agreement to all MVEA officers and representatives. The District shall provide copies on request to the Personnel Office, at no cost.

The Mount Vernon Education Association and the Mount Vernon School District will make electronic copies available on their respective websites.

Editable copies of the Collective Bargaining Agreement will be made available to the President and Lead Bargainer for the Association at that time.

D. Management Rights

Rights of the Board of Directors

The Board, acting in behalf of the electorate of the School District, retains and reserves all powers, rights, authority, duties and responsibilities conferred upon and vested in it by the regulations of the State Board of Education, the laws and the Constitution of the State of Washington and/or the United States. The Association recognizes that the Board is legally responsible for the operation of the School District and that the Board has the necessary authority to exercise all of its responsibilities subject to the laws above mentioned and to the provisions of this Agreement.

By way of illustration and not by way of limitation:

THE RIGHT TO:

- 1. Manage the District, direct the working staff including the right to determine the qualifications, hire, suspend, discipline or discharge employees for proper cause.
- 2. Lay off employees from duty because of lack of work, funds, or other legitimate reasons.
- 3. Transfer employees from one school, department, and/or classification to another. Make such operating changes as are deemed necessary by the Board for the efficient, effective, orderly and economical operation of the District.
- 4. Determine the methods, processes, means and personnel by which any and all work will be performed.
- 5. The right to determine the work to be done, standards to be met, and to what extent work will be performed by the employees.
- 6. The right to develop and control all budgets.

E. No Strike Provision

The Association agrees that for the duration of the Agreement, it will not foster, condone, acquiesce in or encourage any job action by bargaining unit members against the District.

F. Conformity to Law

This agreement shall be governed and construed according to the Constitution and Laws of the State of Washington. If any provision of this Agreement, or any application of this Agreement to any employee or group of employees covered hereby, shall be found contrary to the law, such provision or application shall have effect only to the extent permitted by law, and all other provisions or applications of this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect.

Section 3. Role of Para-educator

A para-educator may perform the following duties:

- Assisting in classroom management.
- Assisting in computer instruction.
- Conducting parent involvement activities.
- Providing instructional support in a library or media center.
- Assisting as a translator/interpreter.
- Providing instructional support while under the direct supervision of a certificated classroom teacher.

The following are conditions under which a para-educator carries out instructional activities:

- The teacher plans the instructional activities
- The instructional activities support instruction which has been delivered by a certificated teacher.
- The teacher evaluates the achievement of the students with whom the para-educator is working.
- The para-educator works in close physical proximity to the teacher.

Section 4. Collective Bargaining Structure and Procedure

Before June 1 of each year a labor/management meeting will be held to reach agreement on the calendar for the upcoming school year as it relates to the scheduling of Rep Council meeting dates, early release/late arrival dates and times, non-student work days and LID dates. Within two weeks of the labor/management meeting, MVEA will notify the District of the Rep Council meeting schedule for the year, which typically consists of one (1) meeting per month. The District will share this schedule with the Administrative Team. The Administrative Team will strive to avoid scheduling district controlled training on Rep Council meeting dates.

A. Waivers

The Mount Vernon School District and the Mount Vernon Education Association acknowledge that, under certain circumstances, individual MVEA members, building or district administrators or building site councils may desire a variance from language contained in the Collective Bargaining Agreement. As a means to encourage creative solutions to problems and provide flexibility, waivers will be considered. Waiver request forms may be found in the Appendix section. Such waivers will require the signature of the MVEA president and the MVSD superintendent.

B. In the event of a double levy failure or significant reductions in state or federal funding, the parties agree to meet and discuss modifying certain provisions of this agreement.

Section 5. Communications

A. Bulletin Boards

A teacher bulletin board shall be provided in each school building. The Association may post notices of its activities and matters of Association concern. Such a bulletin board will be placed, where possible, in the building faculty room.

B. In-District Mail

The Association may use employee mail boxes, district email, telephones and other communications systems operated by the District in its communications to teachers so long as such communications are not intended to disrupt District operations. All materials must be clearly marked as to sender.

C. Availability of Policies and Information

The District shall make available to the Association copies of policies adopted by the School District Board of Directors.

Section 6. Non-Discrimination

The Mount Vernon Education Association assures the Mount Vernon School District that its agency/labor union will comply with all state and federal guidelines and/or regulations. Therefore, all applicants seeking employment opportunities and all contracts for goods and services will be considered and will not be discriminated on the basis of race, creed, color, national origin, families with children, sex, marital status, sexual orientation, age, honorably discharged veteran or military status, or presence of any sensory, mental, or physical disability or the use of a trained dog guide or service animal by a person with a disability. This is in accordance with Title VI of the 1964 Civil Rights Act; Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, 1973, as amended; Americans with Disabilities Act, July 26, 1990, P .L. 101-336; and Title IX/Chapter 28A.640 RCW of the Education Amendments of 1972 as amended and RCW 49.60.030 Freedom from discrimination as amended. (Reference: School Board Policy 5010).

ARTICLE II. BUSINESS

Section 1. Association Security, Dues and Representation Fees

Each employee who is not a member of the Association shall pay to the Association, as representation costs, an amount equal to dues and fees required of membership. The District agrees to deduct on a monthly basis such amount from the compensation of each non-member employee. Nothing in this section shall impair an employee's rights of non-association protected by RCW 41.59.100 and the procedures established thereunder. The Association shall indemnify and hold the District harmless from all claims asserted and lawsuits commenced by, or on behalf of, any employee due to action taken by the District in strict compliance with this section, and further, that the District will defend the Agreement and consult with the Association or its designee respecting all such claims and/or lawsuits with respect to this paragraph.

ARTICLE III. PERSONNEL

Section 1. Rights, Responsibilities, Authority and Protection of Teachers

In addition and subject to applicable RCW's and WAC's the following rights, responsibilities and authority of teachers shall apply:

A. Teacher Responsibilities

Teachers, and all certificated personnel (collectively referred to in Article I, Section 2.A. as members of the bargaining unit) shall have the following responsibilities with respect to the discipline of students.

- 1. Each teacher shall comply with School District and building rules and guidelines relating to the discipline of students.
- 2. Each teacher so assigned shall maintain good order and discipline in the classroom, hallways and on the playground or other common areas of the school.
- B. Employee Responsibility and Right to Discipline

The certified employee is an educational professional who has an affirmative responsibility to implement and maintain effective discipline as required by the Board of Directors. Employees are empowered to take disciplinary action to correct a student who disrupts normal classroom activities, abuses or insults an employee as prohibited by law, willfully disobeys an employee, uses abusive or foul language directed at a District employee, school volunteer, or another student, violates school rules, or who interferes with an orderly education process. In discharging this responsibility, certificated personnel agree to maintain professional expertise in the area of student discipline.

C. Written Building Guidelines and Procedures and Annual Review

Each building shall have written guidelines and procedures regarding student discipline. Such guidelines and procedures, and any actions dealing with student discipline, must be consistent with the adopted Student Rights and Responsibilities Policy and with Washington State codes and law. Each building will hold a training ideally prior to the start of the school year and at least prior to September 30 in order to review written school and District disciplinary standards and to discuss uniform enforcement of those standards. This training may also be used to update all employees regarding applicable federal, state and local laws, and District rules, regulations and procedures pertaining to student rights and

processing of student discipline. This training will include school-wide and common area expectations and other elements of the school student management plan. Beginning in the 2018-19 school year de-escalation strategies will also be shared with staff.

D. Board and Administration Support

The board and administration shall support employees in the application of reasonably disciplinary measures to maintain order and discipline, to protect the safety and well-being of pupils and employees and to control the conduct of students to ensure that the mission of educating students may be achieved.

E. Health and Safety

In the event that student behavior creates a risk to student or staff safety, the student will be removed from the classroom until such time as a conference can be held with the principal and affected staff to determine means by which a safe environment can be restored to the classroom. A behavior coach may be used to suggest strategies.

If the behavior is the result of an identified or suspected disability, an appropriate special education and/or 504 team shall be consulted to identify appropriate interventions. The District and the Association recognize that there are times when the risk posed by the presence of certain students requires the placement of students in a different environment for the protection of staff and students in the classroom. In such cases a recommendation would be made to the IEP team.

In both instances described above in Letter E, staff and the District must comply with the provisions outlined in OSPI Bulletin 050-16 and based upon legislation passed in 2016 (4SHB 1541) regarding exclusions and access to educational services during exclusions.

F. Student Offenses

A student committing an offense under RCW Chapter 9A.36 (assault, physical harm), 9A.40(kidnapping, unlawful imprisonment, custodial interference, luring, trafficking and coercion on involuntary servitude), 9A.46 (harassment), or 9A.48 (arson, reckless burning and malicious mischief) when the activity is directed toward the teacher, shall not be assigned to that teacher's classroom for the duration of the student's attendance at that school or any other school where the teacher is assigned without the mutual consent of the teacher and principal. In such cases a recommendation would be made to the IEP team.

G. Disruption of Class or Activity

Any student who creates a disruption of the educational process in violation of building disciplinary standards while under a teacher's immediate supervision may be excluded by the teacher from his or her individual classroom and instructional or activity area for all or any portion of the balance of the school day, or up to the following two (2) days, or until the principal or designee, parent or guardian when possible, and teacher have conferred, whichever occurs first. Except in emergency circumstances, the teacher first must attempt and document one (1) or more alternative forms of corrective action.

In no event without the consent of the teacher may an excluded student return to the class during the balance of that class or activity period or up to the following two (2) days, or until the principal or his or her designee, parent or guardian when possible, and the teacher have conferred, whichever occurs first. In such instances of temporary removal, the employee has the right to be consulted with regard to the facts of the situation and any actions to be taken with the student, including recommended suspension or expulsion.

In the circumstances described above in Letter G, staff and the District must comply with the provisions outlined in OSPI Bulletin 050-16 and based upon legislation passed in 2016 (4SHB 1541) regarding exclusions and access to educational services during exclusions.

H. Discipline of Special Education Students

Special education students may be suspended for up to ten cumulative days in a school year without resort to special processes or parental consent. Suspension for a partial day constitutes one (1) day. School personnel may remove a student to an interim alternative educational setting for not more than forty-five school days without regard to whether the behavior is determined to be a manifestation of the student's disability, if the student:

- a) Carries a weapon to or possesses a weapon at school, on school premises, or to or at a school function under the jurisdiction of a school district;
- b) Knowingly possesses or uses illegal drugs, or sells or solicits the sale of a controlled substance, while at school, on school premises, or at a school function under the jurisdiction of a school district; or

c) Has inflicted serious bodily injury upon another person while at school, on school premises, or at a school function under the jurisdiction of a school district. (WAC 392-172A-05145)

I. Right to Defend Self or Others

An employee has the right to defend himself/herself or others when endangered by violent behavior. Also recognizing that depending on the age and size of the students involved, physical interventions may or may not be appropriate to halt physical abuse or violence.

J. Timely Administrative Response

The appropriate administrator will respond and give attention within no more than three (3) working days to all employee request regarding discipline problems beyond the employee's classroom management plan. This paragraph is not intended to broaden the time limitations contained in paragraph G of this section.

K. Right to Recommend Suspension or Expulsion

Employees have the right to recommend suspension or expulsion of a student. Where such recommendations are made, but not agreed by the administration shall, after receiving a written request outlining the employee's recommendation and the reasons therefore, provide an explanation to the employee regarding their disposition of the recommendation.

L. Employee Protection

- 1. The District will provide a liability insurance policy covering each certificated staff member to the extent of the amount of coverage currently in effect for the term of this Agreement.
- 2. In dealing with any charge or complaint to be used in disciplining an employee, the District shall:
 - a. Share said charge or complaint with the employee at the earliest possible opportunity
 - b. Provide the employee with a written copy of the charge or complaint
 - c. Schedule investigatory meetings when an employee's representative is available
 - d. Provide the employee at least two (2) days notice, when possible prior to any investigatory meeting.

- 3. No employee shall be disciplined without just and sufficient cause.
- 4. Nothing herein shall preclude the normal interaction between the building administrator and the employee.

M. Home Visits

No employee will be required to enter a home which they have reason to believe may pose a serious threat to their safety or health. Every first home visit will require two district staff, in order to ascertain the initial level of safety.

Section 2. Certificated Employee Staff Reduction

A. Procedures for Staff Reduction

In the event the Board of Directors adopts a reduced educational program by reason of financial necessity, those members of the bargaining unit who will be retained will be identified by using the following procedures:

1. Determination of Vacant Positions

The District will determine, as accurately as possible, the total number of certificated employees known as of April 15 leaving the District for reasons of retirement, family transfer, normal resignations, leaves, discharge or non-renewal, etc., and these vacancies will be taken into consideration in determining the number of available certificated positions for the following school year.

2. Certification

Possession of any valid Washington State Certificate and/or endorsement which may be required for the position(s) under consideration shall be prerequisite for retention.

3. Employment Categories

The following categories and specialties are established to ensure the qualifications of certificated employees assigned to retained positions:

a. Elementary teachers will be considered for retention in one category (K-5).

- b. Secondary teachers will be considered for retention in one category (6-12).
- c. All members of the bargaining unit will be considered for retention according to their specialties and when categorical funding supports a particular program, said program(s) shall be maintained and exempt from Reduction in Force, to the extent of such categorical funding; provided, individual certificated employees shall not be exempt from Reduction in Force if a qualified (as specified herein), more senior certificated employee is being non-renewed and makes a request to staff such a program position.

4. Rate of Reduction

The number of certificated employees non-renewed from categories a and b above shall be reasonably proportionate to the number of students served in each category.

5. Qualification within Employment Category

Each certificated employee will, in accordance with the criteria set forth in Section 2.A.6 hereof, be considered qualified in the category appropriate to the position held at the time of the implementation of these procedures. Certificated employees shall also be eligible for retention in such additional categories or specialties as any such employee may designate and request in writing to the Superintendent or designee, provided, that in order to qualify for retention in any such additional category the employee:

 Must have had a minimum of one (1) year full-time professional experience in each such additional category; and

All written designations and requests for additional categories shall be submitted in writing within five (5) working days after any request for such information is made by the Superintendent or designee. Certificated employees will be eligible for additional categories only if they do not qualify for retention in the category appropriate to the position held at the time of the implementation of these procedures.

6. Selection within Employment Categories

Certificated employees shall be eligible for retention in available positions within the categories or specialties for which they qualify under Section 2.A.3. hereof. In the event

that there are more qualified certificated employees than available positions in a given category or specialty, the following criteria shall be used to determine which certificated employees shall be recommended for retention:

- a. Seniority for full and part-time employees shall be defined consistent with Washington State years of service recognized on the current year's S-275 report to Office of the Superintendent of Public Instruction.
 - 1) If more than one individual employee has the same seniority ranking after applying the above provision, all employees so affected will be ranked in accordance with the total seniority as certificated employees in the Mount Vernon School District, from greatest to least.
 - 2) If more than one individual employee has the same seniority ranking after applying the above Mount Vernon School District seniority ranking, all employees so affected will be ranked in accordance with placement on the state salary schedule.
 - 3) If more than one individual employee has the same seniority ranking after applying the above salary schedule seniority ranking, employees concerned in the decision shall draw lots to decide guaranteed employment and lay off.
 - 4) Certificated employees currently assigned in full-time positions shall be first assigned to all full-time positions consistent with their individual seniority and shall not be obligated to any part-time position but may designate and request such a position.
 - 5) Certificated employees currently assigned to parttime positions shall be assigned to part-time
 positions only consistent with their individual
 seniority and current assignment, provided no parttime certificated employee with less seniority shall be
 assigned to any part-time position unless such a
 position is declined by all employees (full and parttime) with greater seniority.

7. Action by the Superintendent

The provisions of Section 2.A.1-6 above shall be implemented on or before May 15 of the school year prior to the school year

in which any staff reductions may be necessary. The Superintendent shall take such action as may be required by statute to non-renew or adversely affect the employment contracts of affected employees.

8. Employment Pool

- a. All certificated employees who are not recommended for retention in accordance with these procedures shall be terminated from employment and placed in an employment pool for possible re-employment for a period of up to two (2) years. Employment pool personnel will be given the opportunity to fill open positions within the categories or specialties identified in Section 2.A.3. for which they are qualified under Section 2.A.5. If more than one such employee is qualified for an open position, the criteria set forth in Section 2.A.6. shall be applied to determine who shall be offered such position.
- b. When a vacancy occurs for which person(s) in the employment pool qualify, notification from the School District to such individuals will be by certified mail or by personal delivery. Such individual will have five (5) calendar days from the receipt of the notice or seven (7) days from the mailing of such notice, whichever is shortest, to accept the position. If an individual fails to accept a position offered, such individual will be dropped from the employment pool.

9. Certificated Employee's Seniority List

A seniority list of all employees within the bargaining unit shall be compiled by the District for each category contained in Section 2.A.3. herein and a copy forwarded to the President of the Association by the second Monday in January.

Section 3. Assignments/Reassignments and Transfers

It is the District's intent to maintain an educational program that achieves the best interests of students and staff.

Although the District seeks to maintain stability in staffing assignments, it recognizes that there may be merit in change.

A teacher may have to be transferred/reassigned when a change in enrollment or program necessitates an alteration in class offerings.

The District accepts the responsibility to note patterns of change with respect to class offerings and to assist staff in planning for predicted future needs.

Based on the premise that it should not be more difficult to get a building/program reassignment than a district transfer, building and program reassignments will take place prior to hiring for new positions.

Following building/program reassignments, new and vacant positions will be posted and shall remain open for at least seven calendar days. When teaching positions become available after August 10, the District reserves the right to fill new or vacant positions from current employees who have requested a transfer or from the available employment pool without posting.

- A. Assignments for the succeeding school year will be communicated to staff members on a tentative basis by the last student day and to new staff members as soon as practicable. The District reserves the right to make necessary adjustment changes after this date. Staff members who are reassigned after June 30 will be notified in writing as soon as possible after the reassignment is made.
- B. Employees shall be assigned in accordance with the regulations of the State Board of Education.
- C. Employees assigned and required to accept assignments outside of their major/minor fields, unless such employee is currently filling such position, or the employee concurs with such assignment, shall not have their contract status adversely affected due to lack of subject matter competency for the first two (2) years of that specific assignment, except if assignment was accomplished in accordance with the Certificated Staff Reduction procedure as outlined in Section 2. of this Article.

D. Reassignments and Transfers

- 1. No involuntary transfer/reassignment will be made if there is a qualified volunteer to fill the necessary position.
- 2. The District will notify the affected employee(s) by the last day of school or in as timely a manner as possible.
- 3. The building principal will maintain open communication with the affected employee(s) regarding the need for the change and the process that is to be used in determining the transfer/reassignment.

- 4. When two or more employees are, in the District's judgment, equally qualified, seniority (as defined in Article III, Section 2.A.6.a) shall be considered.
- 5. The District reserves the right to determine which employee will be transferred/reassigned.
- 6. Employees being transferred/reassigned will be informed of any other appropriate vacancies known at the time the transfer decision is being made. Employees will be able to indicate their preference of assignment.
- 7. Employees receiving a District directed transfer should be notified, in writing, by August 15th. If there is a District directed transfer after August 15th, there would be two (2) days per diem extended time pay.
- 8. Reassigned employees (an employee moved to a different building site and/or to a different grade level) may, at their request, solicit a review of the planned assignment and make known their wishes regarding an alternate assignment by the Superintendent or designee. A written request by an employee for this review shall be made within five (5) calendar days of the assignment notification to the employee.
- E. The District will provide employees with assistance in moving their classroom materials by providing an equitable means of compensation when they are reassigned, transferred between buildings, are temporarily relocated between rooms, displaced from their classroom, or are otherwise required to store, move or secure classroom materials in a manner that is beyond normal procedures.
 - 1. All moving assistance will be coordinated through the building principals.
 - 2. Building custodians, under the direction of the principal, will be scheduled to provide physical assistance in moving classroom materials within the building.
 - 3. Employees will be compensated for one day of moving time, with their choice of a substitute teacher or per diem pay if the move requires a day's work. If the move requires more than one day's work on the part of the employee, compensation will be in the form of two days substitute time or two days per diem pay at the employee's request.
 - 4. District maintenance staff, under the direction of the Maintenance Supervisor, will schedule building-to-building moves.

F. It will be the District's priority to maintain stability in assignment, reassignment and transfer policies. Normally, no employee shall be subject to transfer/reassignment at District direction more than two (2) times within any five (5) years.

No secondary (grades 6-12) certificated employee shall be subject to an involuntary transfer (at the direction of the District/building principal) from building to building or room to room more than two times within any five (5) year period.

Excluding specialized class displacement (ex: labs, itinerant staff, physical education, drama, vocational education, business education etc), secondary teachers (grades 6-12) who, at the direction of the District/principal, teach in more than two classrooms per day will receive their choice of one day of substitute release time per term or one day's pay at per diem.

An exception to the language in this section will occur when schools are engaged in major school renovation. Each principal and site council will receive a capital projects allotment to support teacher moves precipitated by school renovation. (The compensation to each employee would be equal to at least one day's rate of pay at per diem.) The site team will develop a process to compensate employees for modernization moves that is within the allocation budgeted for their school.

Section 4. In-District Position Change Request

- A. Staff members may apply to any posted positions.
- B. Upon completion of any in-building reassignments, all new positions and vacancies covered by this agreement will be electronically posted and a document listing posted positions will be sent to MVEA as they become available. The ultimate responsibility to be aware of open positions rests within the employee.
- C. The basic consideration in the assignment of certificated personnel in the Mount Vernon School District shall be the well being of the program of instruction as determined by the District. Several factors will be taken into consideration in the process of assignment/reassignment and transfer, including but not limited to:
 - 1. Regulations of the State Board of Education
 - 2. Appropriate certification
 - 3. Requirements of the Instructional Program and Support Services.

- D. Staff members wishing a transfer may indicate their intent by submitting a letter of interest and any other documents that provide evidence of their ability to meet the position qualifications. Those meeting all position requirements will be afforded an interview for the position.
- E. The District will notify employees who applied and were not selected. An employee may ask for a conference to review his/her request that was not granted.

Section 5. Job Sharing

For the purpose of this agreement job sharing means the situation whereby two bargaining unit members voluntarily agree in writing to share one position that would normally be filled by one employee. Participation in a job share shall be subject to annual District approval and the District will determine the number of job sharing positions, if any, within the District for that year. The parties acknowledge and agree that while a job share arrangement may be desired by an employee, it is the priority of both the District and the Association to have a sound, consistent and cohesive educational program for the students.

Wages, Hours, and Working Conditions

- A. Job share partners shall be treated in the same manner as other parttime bargaining unit members with relation to compensation and benefits.
- B. Job-sharing certificated employees shall be given experience credit for advancement on the salary schedule based on the employee's FTE.
- C. Continuing contract employees who have been granted a job share may either resign the remaining portion of his/her FTE or apply for a leave of absence for the remaining portion of his/her FTE. If an employee wishes to continue a job share after one year, he/she must resign the leave portion of his/her assigned FTE. After one year the District is under no obligation to hold open the position a job share partner held before assuming a job share assignment. (For Leave of Association President see Section 5.9)
- D. Should a job sharing participant not be able to complete the job sharing situation for any reason, the district will deal with the situation according to the following priorities:
 - 1. First, offer full time employment to the remaining job sharing person;

- 2. Second, seek a compatible replacement, with the remaining partner working fulltime until the replacement can be found;
- 3. Third, if the remaining partner is unable to assume the full-time responsibility until a replacement is found, a substitute will be identified to work until a replacement is found.

Application Procedures

Employees with satisfactory evaluations who have non-provisional continuing contracts with the District may apply for a job share assignment. Such application should be submitted as a team in writing to the building principal by April 1 of the preceding contract year and indicate the employees' desire to job share the ensuing school year. The proposed teaching combination must have the approval of the building principal and Human Resources.

Responsibilities of job share partners shall be divided and/or allocated according to a written plan designed by the job-share partners with the approval of their immediate supervisor. Items to be addressed in job sharing applications are set forth in Appendix IX.

Section 6. Certificated Employee Personnel Files

- A. The District shall maintain a single personnel file which shall be kept in the Personnel Office and which shall be controlled by the Superintendent or designee.
- B. Principals may keep or maintain "working files" relative to those employees for which they hold responsibility to evaluate. Such working files are not part of the employee's personnel file, are subject to review upon request by the employee, and are not of use within the disciplinary/grievance procedure unless formalized.

In an effort to address problem areas prior to formalization into Personnel File, the following steps will be taken:

- 1. Any item that has a potential for discipline and or negative evaluation will have been brought to the attention of the employee in written form within 15 work days.
- 2. The principal/evaluator will offer/provide support through coaching, clarification of procedures and/or additional information. Such support may extend into the next school year.
- 3. Should the employee refuse/decline principal/evaluator support, a written summary of the complaint will be placed in the Personnel File in the Personnel Office. Such summary will include employee signature of the complaint however the signature does not represent employee agreement.

Working file materials not formalized and introduced into the employee's personnel file within two years from the date of the event shall be destroyed. Materials within a working file may be formalized to become part of the employee's personnel file.

- C. The District shall maintain no other personnel files. Listings and objective forms which include an employee's name and objective data shall not be construed to be part of the contents of any personnel file. (For example: affirmative action reports and records, equal opportunity for employment information and records, records of absence, payroll data, fringe benefit reports and records, rosters, certification information and records, information and records regarding health certificates, retirement information and records, authorizations for withholding from pay and employee withholding exemption certificate, etc.)
- D. The employee's District personnel file is available for review by the employee under the following condition:
 - 1. During normal office hours (8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m.) of a regular business day.
- E. Employees shall be notified in writing within five working days when derogatory material is placed in their personnel file.

Materials reviewed by an employee and judged by the employee to be derogatory to his/her conduct, service or character, may be answered in writing. Such written response shall become a part of the written personnel records. Notice that such a response was placed in the file will be directed in writing to the Superintendent of Schools.

- F. Once an official reprimand or warning is made, all material relating to that reprimand or warning will be sent to and maintained only in the District personnel file.
- G. Employees have the right to request the Superintendent to review their file and remove derogatory materials.
- H. College University credentials that are confidential shall be returned to the College or University of origin or destroyed as per direction of College or University, after Board election of the employee to the staff.

Section 7. Release of Names

The names of faculty members shall not be given to a commercial agency or private enterprise.

Section 8. Certificated Substitutes

Substitute certificated personnel within the bargaining unit include the following:

- A. Those certificated substitutes to be or having been employed twenty-one (21) consecutive days or more in the same position. Day shall be the same number of hours as the person substituted for.
- B. Those certificated substitutes who have been employed thirty-one (31) days or more during any twelve (12) month period ending in the current school year or the immediately preceding school year. Days should be full days as defined in Article IV, Section 5.D.

C. Compensation

- Substitutes shall be paid \$150 per full day or \$75.00 per half day for the first thirty (30) cumulative dates worked each school year.
- 2. Substitutes who have been employed twenty-one (21) consecutive days shall be paid at the per diem rate retroactive to the beginning of their assignment based upon their appropriate position on the teacher's salary schedule currently in force effective the 21st day of employment in one assignment. A sick day, or a temporary reassignment to a different position will not be considered a break in the twenty-one (21) consecutive days served.

Substitutes employed under the twenty-one day rule (above) will be compensated for duties that fall outside of the 7.5 hour day at their hourly rate. The number of hours submitted will not exceed 2.0 hours/day of the assignment. Among the activities that would qualify for additional pay are grading, planning, attending conferences and any other duties that are essential to their assignment.

- 3. Leaves expected to be 60 days or longer will be filled by using a leave replacement contract. These employed on a leave replacement contract will no longer be limited by the language of the contract that applies only to substitutes. In the event a leave replacement employee cannot be secured, the position can be filled by a substitute.
- 4. Substitute rate of pay for additional duties will be based upon the following formula: full day of substitute pay, divided by 7.5 hours, times the time assigned for the duty.

- 5. Substitutes can be asked to perform duties during their planning periods. Substitutes who agree to duties during their planning period will be compensated at their hourly rate.
- 6. The terms and conditions of this contract that apply to substitutes are limited to those contained in the Agreement as listed below.
 - Article I. Administration
 - 1. Purpose
 - 2. Status of Agreement
 - A. Recognition
 - D. Management Rights
 - E. No-Strike Provision
 - 5. Communications

Article II. Business

1. Association Security, Dues and Representation Fees (Substitutes represented by the Association as defined in Article III.8.B shall be subject to all terms and conditions of this of this section. The Association shall provide the dues structure to the district each year by September 15.)

Article III Personnel

- 1. Rights, Responsibilities, Authority and Protection of Teachers, excluding D2 and D3
- 7. Release of Names
- Article IV Salary and Benefits
 - 5. D. Work Day
- Article VI General Working conditions
 - 1. Academic Freedom
 - 7. Faculty Facilities
 - 8. Classroom Paraprofessionals
 - 9. C. In-district Travel
 - 10. Classroom Visitations
- 7. Certificated substitutes that have been employed twenty one (21) consecutive days or more in the same position shall be covered by the list above and the following sections.

Article IV

- 1. Annual Salaries
- 2. Miscellaneous Salary Provisions
- 4. Payroll Deductions

No other sections or terms of the Agreement shall apply to substitutes.

ARTICLE IV. SALARY AND BENEFITS

Section 1. Annual Salaries

- A. All employees will be paid on the basis of the State-Wide Salary Schedule. Placement thereon will be based on criteria established by State law, WACs, and as may be further specified in the annual SPI reporting guidelines for the S-275 report.
- B. Advancement on the salary schedule will be based on the following provisions:
 - 1. No advancement on the salary schedule shall be made until the appropriate documentation (certification, degree, official transcripts, and experience verification) is registered in the Administration Office.
 - 2. Any returning teacher planning on advancement for the school year must:
 - a. Have all necessary course credit or experience completed prior to October 1, and
 - b. Have appropriate documentation on file prior to October 15. Salary advancement shall not be granted any later than October 15 of the school year, unless the teacher can produce evidence that the circumstances were beyond his/her control.
 - 3. New hires must have appropriate documentation of all course credit, including clock hours, and experience registered in the Administration Office within ninety (90) calendar days of their first day of work in order for the credit and/or experience to be applicable to the current year salary, unless the teacher can produce evidence that the absence of the documentation is beyond his/her control. Documentation received after the cutoff date will be applicable for the following school year in accordance with the terms and conditions of the applicable collective bargaining agreement.
 - 4. Advancement shall further be in accordance with the criteria established by the State law, WACs, and as further specified in the annual SPI reporting guidelines for the S-275 report.
- C. Supplemental contracts shall be used for department chair stipends, fine and performing arts coordinator stipends, and extended time compensation. The District shall implement appropriate procedures to facilitate the use of supplemental contracts for these purposes.

Section 2. Miscellaneous Salary Provisions

- A. It is the imperative responsibility of each teacher to keep the Administration Office accurately informed as to all credits earned which may affect advancement on the salary schedule.
- B. In the event an error is made resulting in salary underpayment or overpayment, adjustment will be implemented effective to the beginning of the school year in which the error is brought to the District's attention.
- B. No teacher will be hired who is not properly certificated to teach in Washington State.
- D. Any State-prescribed minimum salaries, e.g., BA+0, will be granted.
- E. Either party may reopen salary negotiations if (1) the State salary limitations as applied to the District are voided by a final and binding court order or are removed by the Legislature, or (2) the State significantly impacts or totally abandons use of the State-Wide Salary Schedule.
- F. The parties understand that benefits contained in this agreement shall be prorated according to an employee's FTE.

Section 3. Insurance Contributions

The District shall make available funds to contribute toward premiums of Association and District-approved group insurance programs. It is the intent of the parties to comply with the limitations imposed by State laws, appropriations acts and implementing regulations as they relate to expenditures for employee benefits and the requirement of ESB 5940. No provision of the Agreement shall be interpreted or applied so as to place the District in breach of the benefit limitation imposed by State law or to subject the District to a State funding penalty. Pursuant to RCW 28A.400.275(1), the parties agree to abide by state laws relating to school district employee benefits. The parties acknowledge that the above insurance agreement is for a term of one year, subject to automatic extension for the ensuing year in the absence of written notice otherwise by one party to the other prior to June 1.

A. The District will pay 100% of the Health Care Authority Retiree Subsidy.

The process for distribution to employees and for adjusting the rate of available benefits for the term of this Agreement will be in accordance with applicable statute (RCW 28A.400.280).

The enrollment of new employees shall begin with their employment and shall be completed within the first thirty-one (31) days after the beginning of service.

The enrollment deadline for returning employees will be the second Tuesday of September.

The order of payment for insurance premium costs shall be first, all group plans (dental, vision, life, and long-term disability), and then medical insurance plans. Funds which remain, if any, may be designated by the employee toward payment of first, other Basic Group benefits as determined by the group membership, and second, optional benefit plans as selected by the group membership.

In the event that the District insurance contribution is insufficient to pay the cost of any required premiums or the premium costs of any optional plan, a salary reduction will be made to cover the costs of such premiums.

- C. When mandated, health insurance coverage for members of the bargaining unit will be provided through the HCA. (The HCA is projected to administer the medical, dental, life and disability insurance coverage for the employees of school districts as set forth in Chapter 41.05 RCW.)
- D. An employee whose spouse/domestic partner is also covered by this Agreement and eligible for a District insurance contribution may combine the contribution with said spouse/domestic partner and enroll in an "employee plus spouse/domestic partner (and child dependents, if applicable)" medical plan rather than two plans. The unused portion of the combined insurance allocations shall be returned to MVEA's insurance pool.

Section 4. Payroll Deductions

- A. Payroll deduction information included on individual warrant stubs will be itemized to the extent such information is provided to the District by the Association on a monthly basis in the form of specific billing amounts, e.g., WEA, MVEA, NEA. WEA-PAC.
- B. The District shall be absolved by the Association of all responsibility for accuracy and accounting of local, state, or national professional dues and fees. Additionally, individual employees shall provide a

signature card authorizing payroll deductions. The District shall not be held responsible for errors resulting from inaccurate or inadequate information provided by the employee.

Section 5. Contract Days

- The basic teacher contract shall be for 180.
- B. Teachers new to the District shall be required to attend a one day district and/or building orientation prior to the beginning of the school year. The time spent in such meetings will be compensated at the per diem rate.
- C. As many teachers as is reasonably possible may complete their final check-out after 3:00 p.m. on the last contract day. In any event, for those teachers not desiring to or who are unable to check out on the last day, check-out procedures must be completed within five (5) working days after the last contract day.
- D. The normal work day shall be seven and one-half (7.5) hours in length, inclusive of a thirty (30) minute duty-free lunch period. The day shall include the thirty minutes before the opening of school and the thirty minutes after the close of school that certificated employees are required to be at their respective schools for the benefit of pupils and patrons. This before and after school time shall be free of assigned non-instructional, supervisory duties. These conditions do not limit meetings beyond the times indicated, including Open House, PTA and other traditional District Activities.

There will be no more than three hours of building directed meetings per month. Such meetings may be held before the student day, ending no later than 15 minutes before the start of the student day, or at least at the end of the student day, starting no sooner than 15 minutes after the end of the student day. Meetings will last no more than one hour each.

These meetings can have any of the following purposes:

- Regular staff meetings
- PI Cs
- Department/Grade Level meetings
- Essential trainings
- E. In the event the District makes a decision to delay the start of school due to an emergency situation, employees are to use good judgment about safe travel to work. In any event, employees are to arrive at school at least thirty (30) minutes prior to the newly scheduled student starting time if possible. If an employee is unable to arrive at

school prior to the newly scheduled starting time, emergency leave may be used by the employee for time missed.

In the event that schools are closed early and the administration has made a decision to send students home, staff shall stay until all students are accounted for and are safely off school grounds. At that time or earlier if appropriate, the administration will determine if there are safety factors that make it necessary to send staff home as well.

F. When the District schedules make-up days for emergency closures and an employee has an existing commitment made prior to the announcement of make up days that cannot be changed, employees may request the use of emergency leave.

In the event a waiver is granted by SPI for fewer than 180 days due to school closure resulting from inclement weather and there is no negative impact upon District funding, teachers shall suffer no loss in pay or benefits while not having to make up these days.

Section 6. Additional Compensation

A. <u>Professional Responsibility Stipend</u>

The Mount Vernon School District and the Mount Vernon Education Association agree and affirm the following beliefs:

- 1. The success of the Mount Vernon School District is dependent upon hiring and retaining the highest quality certificated staff.
- 2. Providing a quality of education for students requires from certificated staff a commitment to the profession beyond the basic contract, normal workday hours and school year.
- 3. State law allows additional compensation for additional time, additional responsibilities or incentives. (TRI)
- 4. The additional commitment required of Mount Vernon certificated staff cannot be accurately measured in hours or days.
- 5. The time necessary to fulfill any one certificated staff member's responsibilities will vary from that of another, as determined by the individual's own professional judgment.

For the reasons stated above, the District will provide a stipend as defined in the Professional Responsibility Stipend

schedule in Appendix VIII as an incentive to provide the additional services required of all certificated staff members in the Mount Vernon School District outside of the basic contract and Instructional Improvement Days/Hours. Payment for this professional responsibility stipend shall be made in twelve (12) equal monthly installments.

The professional responsibility stipend will be calculated at 32.2% of the state Salary Allocation Model (SAM).

Staff with 20 years or more experience as reported on the S-275 form will receive an additional 2.5% responsibility stipend.

Staff with 25 years or more experience as reported on the S-275 form will receive an additional 2.5% responsibility stipend.

The Professional Responsibility Stipend recognizes that employees provide a professionally responsible level of service in the following areas which is above the basic contract:

- a) preparation of the classroom or workspace before, after, and during the school year for quality instruction or support of instruction;
- b) building activities outside of the workday, such as fall and spring open houses, curriculum nights, parent education nights, school and community functions, and concerts;
- self reflection, goal setting and related professional growth activities such as workshops, classes, conferences, seminars or research projects;
- d) grade level, department, building, job-alike and/or District committees, task forces, processes and activities; and
- e) fulfillment of basic contract expectations that may fall outside of the regular workday such as the planning of instruction and curriculum, the evaluation of student work, the preparation of student assessments, the preparation of summative progress and grade reports for timely distribution, IEP and Section 504 meetings and communicating with parents and students.

Employees shall document the completion of these activities on a mutually-agreed upon form once per year.

B. <u>Supplemental Hours</u>

1. District Directed Enrichment Activities

Employees will work an additional 30 hours beyond the contracted basic education work year hours and the professional responsibility stipend. This work will be directed by the principal/supervisor and used to support the following enrichment activities:

- School improvement planning and implementation
- Grade level and cross grade level collaboration
- Whole school collaboration
- Cross district collaboration
- Refinement of instructional strategies
- Professional study groups
- Professional development

If a certificated staff member is unable to participate due to a personal emergency, the staff member can work with his/her principal/supervisor to arrange to make up this time when possible.

2. Two non-student days will be embedded within the school year to provide space for professional development. These will be November 13 and February 16. These professional development hours may also occur in August 2017, August 2018 or at other times outside of the contracted work day and work year.

If a certificated staff member is unable to participate in scheduled activities due to a personal emergency, the staff member can work with his/her supervisor to arrange to make up this time if possible. If the scheduled activities, by mutual agreement, do not pertain to a certificated staff member, the staff member can work with his/her supervisor to arrange to make up this time if possible.

These days will be optional, and can be documented by a sign in sheet on the day of the scheduled training or by timesheet which will be submitted to the building principal.

Counselors, nurses and other specialists with mutual approval of their supervisor, may flex non-student days. Submission for pay for these days can be by time sheet or by sign in sheets on the non-students days at the staff member's discretion.

3. Professional Development Day

All employees will be given compensation to support professional development. Each employee will be given up to 7.5 hours for self-directed professional development. The manner of professional development may be, but is not limited to:

- Course work toward an advanced degree
- Workshops, classes or training that are relevant to the employee's assignment
- Workshops, classes or trainings that are required to Maintain certification
- Any documented work required to support Professional Certification

C. Professional Support

The district will reimburse employees for some of the expenses incurred while attending professional development activities as delineated in Section 6.B.3. above. Each year, a pool will be created equal to \$150 x the number of FTE employees. In addition, at the start of the each year, those monies that are unused from the previous year, up to an amount of \$50,000, will be added to the pool for use in subsequent years. Each employee will be eligible for reimbursement by an amount equal to the pool divided by the number of eligible FTE employees. Reimbursement can be applied to tuition, workshop fees, travel expenses, accommodations, substitute coverage for 1 day release time for National Board testing or other expenses incurred during professional development outside the contract day/year. The district shall reimburse employees for tuition costs of Professional Certification (Pro-Teach) coursework up to \$1000 total. To obtain reimbursement, employees shall submit evidence of course completion and a detailed receipt indicating proof of payment for Professional Certification (Pro-Teach) coursework.

The District will reimburse, up to \$200 annually, the costs required of Occupational Therapists, Physical Therapists, and Speech and Language Pathologists to obtain the national certification that is required of them in order to bill for Medicaid services when said certification is required of the employee by the District. To obtain reimbursement, the employee shall submit evidence of certification renewal and a detailed receipt indicating proof of payment for certification.

E. Transition Time

To facilitate a smooth transition between semesters, there will be a Duty free, non-student day scheduled between semesters. This day is not compensated, and on-site attendance is optional.

D. <u>Financial Arrangements</u>

The compensation for the Professional Responsibility Stipend and Additional Days will be as follows:

- 1. Part-time employees will be compensated in the same ratio that their service bears full-time service.
- 2. A supplemental contract will be issued to all employees for the professional responsibility stipend. Employees will be paid on an equal monthly basis beginning with the September pay period and continuing through August 31. Each employee shall submit to the District by June 1 the mutually agreed upon designated reports for verification of the professional responsibility stipend. Adjustments to the number of hours actually worked shall be made as needed.
- 3. Employees shall submit prior to August 1, additional pay forms to document the professional development day and the supplemental hours.
- 4. Funds not used during the contract year for which they were budgeted will not carry forward into the following contract year.

Section 7. Rate of Pay

The District and the Association recognize only one rate of pay: per diem. The per diem rate of pay is calculated by dividing the employee's annual salary under the salary allocation model, and dividing by 180. Hourly pay will be calculated as the per diem rate of pay divided by 7.5.

The District maintains the right to set payment amounts for voluntary activities beyond the duties described elsewhere in this agreement.

For all duties for which payment is offered, payment will be at the per diem rate with the exception of flexible payments which can be used to compensate for projects or activities which are better defined by the product produced or the responsibilities involved than by time in attendance. The amount of such payments shall be

arranged by mutual agreement with the individual(s) involved and the District.

Section 8. Support Personnel Schedule

Calculation Formula:

Responsibility factor x Salary Placement on State-Wide Salary Allocation Schedule = Stipend Amount

<u>Position</u>	Responsibility Factor		
Fine and Performing Arts Coordinator	.05		
Department Chairperson	.03		

Section 9. Co-Curricular Schedule

The co-curricular assignments and stipends contained herein reflect the total contractual compensation to be provided for each activity, including the complete season and any post-season competition. No additional expenditure of time will be compensated, unless said expenditure of time is the direct result of a District directive.

The stipends identified herein are subject to annual change equal to increases in the base rate.

See MOU.

Section 10. Certificated employees who will have completed a minimum of five (5) years of certificated employment in the Mount Vernon School District will be allowed a payment of \$500.00 for early notification of planned resignation. The employee must submit a letter of resignation to the appropriate district administrator, by February 1st, during or after the fifth year of employment stating the intent to resign June 30th of the same year. The lump sum \$500.00 payment will be processed no later than July 31st of that year.

The purpose of this grant is to enlist the assistance of employees in providing for an orderly transition from one school year to the next. In return for this grant, employees are requested to leave their room and equipment in good order and to provide the replacement employees with inventories and information necessary for them to assume the duties of their new assignment. Employees may also be asked to participate in an exit conference with the person who will be filling the position (or supervisor if position is not filled prior to June 30). These responsibilities shall be completed by June 30 of the current school year.

Compensation under this section shall be for the termination of employees contract rights and shall not be included for purpose of computing a retirement allowance under any public retirement system in this state as specified in RCW 28A.400.220(2).

Effective 9/1/2002

ACTIVITY

CO-CURRICULAR ACTIVITIES

	AVERAGE HOURS	<u>STIPEND</u>
ASB Advisor	500	\$6340.00
Band - High School Middle School (2) Vocal - High School Orchestra Skagina Bulldog Advisor High School Video Production	210 50 210 75 200 200 200	\$2663.00 \$634.00 \$2663.00 \$951.00 \$2536.00 \$2536.00
Technology Coach	127	\$1612.00
FBLA Advisor FFA Advisor DECA Advisor FCCLA TSA	291 555 291 291 303	\$3690.00 \$7037.00 \$3690.00 \$3690.00 \$3842.00
EXTRA-CURRICULAR SCHEDULE		
ELEMENTARY PROGRAMS Young Authors Student Librarians	16 35	\$203.00 \$444.00

Note: Activities listed here include those requiring a teaching certificate. All others are not part of this agreement and are overseen by the office of the Assistant Superintendent for Personnel.

ARTICLE V. LEAVES

- Section 1. Leave Calculations (Applies to all leaves)
 - A. Leave time shall be calculated to the nearest half-day.
 - B. Leaves beyond those designated shall be paid by the employee at the rate of one (1) to the number of his/her contracted days, when such leave extension request by the employee has received administrative approval.
 - C. Employees on an approved leave as covered by Article V of this agreement, when such leave is without pay or benefits, shall have the option of maintaining group insurance coverage, if such coverage is permitted by the insurance carrier and further, provided the employee pays the monthly insurance premiums as prescribed.
- Section 2. Sick Leave (Temporary Disability/Emergency Leave)
 - A. Definition of Temporary Disability/Emergency Leave

Temporary disability/emergency leave are leaves of absence for which an employee covered by this Agreement accrues entitlement under RCW 28A.400.300 and which the employee may use as described hereafter. Temporary disability/emergency leave shall be compensated leave.

- B. Use and Definition of Temporary Disability/Emergency Leave
 - 1. Temporary disability leave may be used only in the event of absence due to a personal illness, injury, accident, pregnancy, miscarriage, abortion, childbirth and recovery therefrom as may affect the employee or in keeping with laws governing family leave (RCW 49.12.270).
 - 2. Emergency leave may be taken in the case of emergencies as defined in the following:
 - a. The problem must have been suddenly precipitated, where pre-planning could not relieve the necessity for the teacher's absence.
 - b. The problem cannot be one of minor importance or mere convenience, but must be of a serious nature.

3. In order to be eligible for consideration as emergency leave, the written application to the personnel office must be made within fourteen (14) days of return to work.

Determination of approval will be by the Superintendent/designee based on preceding criteria; such emergency leave will be limited to a maximum of six (6) days per year.

4. Annually, one additional day of emergency leave may be used for compelling personal reasons without written application to the Superintendent. This leave does not accumulate, may not be cashed out, and must be scheduled at least two (2) working days in advance, when possible. This additional leave will be deducted from sick leave days.

C. Accrual of Temporary Disability/Emergency Leave

Twelve (12) days temporary disability/emergency leave will be credited to employees under full-time contract at the beginning of the school year. Employees under contract as part-time employees will be credited with that portion of twelve (12) days as the total number of days contracted bears to one hundred eighty (180) days. All accumulation of deduction of temporary disability/emergency leave for part-time employees shall be on the basis of the employee's scheduled workday as it relates to a full workday. Leave days earned but unused during each calendar year may be accumulated year to year to the limit of the individual contract days, or may be compensated annually to the limit of twelve (12) days or at retirement or death to a limit of one hundred eighty (180) days so long as prescribed and permitted by statute. Any such conversion of accumulated temporary disability/emergency leave shall be subject to the terms and limitations of applicable regulations.

In the event such an employee should terminate employment having used more temporary disability/emergency leave, the employee shall be subject to the terms and limitation of applicable regulations.

D. Childbearing Disabilities

In cases of disability arising from pregnancy, miscarriage, abortion, childbirth and recovery therefrom wherein the employee has not accrued sufficient temporary disability leave credits to extend through the course of normal disability, the District will provide additional leave beyond the employee's accrued temporary disability leave so that the total of both accrued leave and temporary disability leave will not exceed forty-five (45) days. This extended leave will be without pay or other benefits. Employees requiring disability

leave in excess of forty-five (45) days will fall under the provisions of Article V, Section 8. Health Leave.

E. Reporting Disability

When an employee must be absent due to a disability arising from an unexpected illness or injury or absent due to an emergency, the employee must notify the immediate supervisor as soon as possible. In cases of planned absences of thirty (30) calendar days or longer for illness or injury, a physician's certificate giving the dates (or approximate dates) the absence will begin and end is required at the time the request for the leave is made. While the employee is still working, the District may require the employee to provide a certificate from the employee's physician indicating the employee is physically capable of performing the employee's normal assigned tasks.

F. Proof of Disability Absence

For disabilities extending thirty (30) calendar days or more, the District may require an examination of its employee by the employee's physician.

Upon notification of an immediate supervisor of an employee's intent to return to work, the District, at its option, may request a physician statement in case of disability leave and health leave for treatment already initiated as a result of surgery, accidents, injuries, or long-term illnesses, such as, but not limited to, back injuries, strains, sprains and other injuries, which may be aggravated by premature return to work.

G. Employee's Return to Work

An employee who is absent from work on a temporary disability leave shall notify the immediate supervisor of the intention to return to work by 4:30 p.m. on the day before returning from any absence.

An employee who is absent from work on a temporary disability leave for more than thirty (30) calendar days may return after giving the District five (5) calendar days prior notice of the desire to return to work. For such absences of thirty (30) calendar days or more, the District may, at its discretion, require the employee to provide a written statement from a physician certifying the fitness of the employee to fulfill the employee's duties.

Section 3. Bereavement Leave

Up to five (5) days leave with pay shall be granted per year in the event of death in the family of the employee. "Family" shall be interpreted as spouse, children, father, mother, brother, sister, grandparent, step-relatives and in-laws of the same degree of relationship. Family may also include any person living in the household as a member of the family or a person with a significant relationship to the employee.

One (1) day of bereavement leave with pay may be used for attendance at the funeral or memorial service of another relative (non-immediate family) or close personal friend.

This leave shall be non-accumulative from year to year. In extenuating circumstances, an extension of bereavement leave may be granted at the discretion of the Superintendent. Leave may be granted for other funerals with the teacher paying the substitute's salary.

Section 4. Childcare Leave (Newly Born Child)

- A. Ninety (90) days non-paid leave shall be granted an employee to care for a newly born child. The leave must commence immediately following the childbearing disability leave.
- B. The leave request shall be directed to the Superintendent or designee. Such request should be made in writing as soon as the employee knows that a leave will be requested and no later than thirty (30) days before the anticipated delivery date. The request shall state the dates during which the employee intends to take childcare leave.
- C. At the discretion of the District, childcare leave may be extended ninety (90) days beyond the initial ninety (90) day leave. The exact date of the employee's return will be determined in consultation with the Superintendent and the employee's immediate supervisor.
- D. In the event both parents of the newly born child are employees of the District, they shall together be entitled to a total of ninety (90) days leave and leave shall be granted to only one parent at a time.
- E. Experience credit will not be given for leave time.
- F. Adoptive leave is governed exclusively by the provisions of Article V, Section 6.

Section 5. Child Rearing Leave

All employees (male and female) may be granted, at the District's discretion, up to one (1) year of unpaid leave for the purpose of child rearing a natural or adopted child.

In the event that both parents of a natural or adopted child are employees of the District, they shall together be entitled to a total of one year of leave and leave shall be granted to only one parent at a time.

Experience credit will not be given for leave time.

Section 6. Adoptive Leave

- A. Ninety (90) days of non-paid leave shall be granted an employee who adopts a child and requests such leave. The leave request shall be directed to the Superintendent or designee.
- B. Adoptive Leave shall not exceed an aggregate of three (3) paid days per employee in any given school year. Adoptive leave shall be granted to a parent upon prior application to the District in order to complete the adoption process. Such leave may be used for court legal procedures, home study and evaluation, and required home visitations by the adoption agent which are not possible to schedule outside the employees regular working hours. In the event additional leave is needed, such leave will be granted under the provisions of Sick Leave Section 2.B.2.e.and Section 2.B.3.
- C. The District shall be notified when adoption proceedings have begun and the leave shall begin at a natural break in the school year or a mutually agreed upon date.
- D. At the discretion of the District, adoption leave may extend up to one semester beyond the initial ninety (90) day leave. The exact date of the employee's return will be determined in consultation with the Superintendent and the employee's immediate supervisor.
- E. In the event adoptive parents are both employees of the District, they shall together be entitled to a total of ninety (90) days leave and leave shall be granted to only one parent at a time.
- F. Experience credit will not be given for leave time.

Section 7. Personal Leave

A. Every employee will be granted up to two (2) days of leave per year to be used for personal reasons. The employee will not be required

- to state the reason for taking such leave, beyond declaring that it is personal.
- B. An employee taking more than two (2) personal leave days consecutively will notify the immediate supervisor at least three (3) days in advance.
- C. Lesson plans have been prepared and delivered to the employee's supervisor or designee prior to the leave date.
- D. Substitute can be obtained for the day of absence.
- E. This leave will not be granted during the first five (5) or the last ten (10) work days of the instructional year. However, in extraordinary circumstances, an employee may request the Superintendent/designee to grant personal leave beyond these conditions.
 - The provisions of this item E are not grievable.
- F. This leave shall not apply to any day covered by optional day contracts.
- G. This leave is not transferable, and will not be deducted from disability leave.
- H. An employee may accumulate up to a maximum of five (5) days of personal leave at any given time. Any leave greater than three (3) days or 22.5 hours will be cashed out with the July payroll at the substitute rate. This leave will not be deducted from sick leave.
- I. Personal leave may be used in conjunction with one (1) day of emergency leave as outlined in Article V, Section 2. B.4., not to exceed two (2) days annually.

Section 8. Health Leave

After the expiration of temporary disability leave and/or at the incurrence of ill health, a health leave of absence may be granted, subject to Board approval based upon the following criteria.

- A. A written request for such leave has been transmitted to the District.
- B. Said request is accompanied by a statement from the attending physician which states that the employee should be relieved of duties.

- C. The request for leave does not require more than one school year.
- D. Experience credit is not granted for the period of absence if it exceeds ninety (90) school days.
- E. Seniority accumulated prior to the leave will be retained.

Section 9. Judicial Leave

An employee who is summoned to serve as a juror or is obliged to appear in court as a party or subpoenaed witness shall notify his immediate supervisor immediately upon learning of the need for leave. For jury duty, the employee shall receive normal pay. An employee who must be absent for judicial proceedings as a party will be entitled to leave without pay. An employee who is subpoenaed as a witness shall be granted leave with normal pay, with any witness fees remitted to the District. In the event the Association or other party financially supported by the Association, brings suit against the District the Association shall reimburse the District the per diem pay of any employee covered by this Agreement, subpoenaed in said suit by the Association or its financially supported party.

Section 10. Military Leave

(Appropriate laws apply)

Section 11. Professional Service Leave

Subject to Board approval, leave of absence for a Washington Education Association or National Education Association office shall be granted without pay.

Section 12. Other Leaves

District at its discretion may grant an employee's request for leave, or an extension of an already granted leave, for reasons not specifically identified in this article. Examples may include but are not limited to leave for the purpose of professional study, individualized staff development and renewal, etc. When such leave is granted, the absence shall not be construed as a break in service so far as seniority and experience are concerned, i.e., seniority and experience upon return to duty will be the same as when the leave began.

Section 13. Return From Leaves

Upon return from leaves, in this section, employees will be assigned to the same position held prior to taking such leave. If the position

is not available, employees will be placed in a comparable position held prior to the taking of such leave. However, an employee returning from an approved maternity leave will be assigned to the same position held prior to taking such leave, provided such leave does not exceed one year.

The term "comparable" shall be defined as follows for the purpose of placement of approved leaves.

A. Elementary K-6

Placement upon return from leave will be within two (2) grade levels of placement prior to leave.

- B. Secondary, by Broad Subject Area(s)
 - Middle School
 - 2. High School
- C. Specialty Areas
- D. Employees on leave shall notify the District in writing of their intent to return from leave not later than April 1.

Section 14. Leave Sharing

Eligible employees shall be granted the right to donate Sick Leave (Temporary Disability/Emergency Leave) to come to the support of another eligible employee in need of such assistance in accordance with state law and Mount Vernon School District policy.

Section 15. Association Business Released Time

- A. When an employee is released on Association business, the Association shall reimburse the District the current substitute cost for each day the employee is engaged in Association Business Released Time. The rate may be pro-rated on a one-half day basis.
- B. Upon written request by the Association President prior to June 1 of any year, the District agrees to grant the Association President a paid leave of absence up to full-time for the year. The association shall reimburse the District their total cost of the officer's salary, mandatory and permissive benefits, and retirement. The Association will also compensate the District for sick leave earned by the President. Compensation for this sick leave shall be in the amount of \$350/year. Unless otherwise mutually agreed by the Superintendent

- and Association President, reimbursement shall be paid monthly upon receipt of a billing by the District.
- C. There will be no further charge to the Association if the officer takes sick leave to compensate for loss of time during their regular District duties.
- D. Upon completion of the leave, the Association officer shall be guaranteed return to his/her original position. If the position is not available, the employee will be placed in a comparable position to the one held prior to taking of such leave.

ARTICLE VI. GENERAL WORKING CONDITIONS

Section 1. Academic Freedom

- A. The study of political and controversial matters should be fostered within the appropriate instructional context.
- B. Materials relevant to the study should be freely used.
- C. The certificated employee shall refrain from attempt to inculcate his/her partisan view, but he/she may state his/her position to fully define a possible influence.

Section 2. Intellectual Property Rights

Materials created by staff on their own time, without use of District equipment will be the property of the staff. Any materials created on District time with the use of District resources will be the property of the District.

Section 3. Acceptable Use Policy

A. Purpose

- The parties recognize that the Internet/Intranet is a vast resource capable of providing enhanced information gathering and communication skills to assist in educational, employment-related and Association endeavors.
- 2. Bargaining unit members' use of the Internet/Intranet is appropriate under all of the following circumstances:
 - support of the academic program;
 - telecommunications;
 - Association activities; and
 - Reasonable personal use to the extent that such use does not violate any express prohibitions of this Agreement and does not interfere with the bargaining unit members' assigned duties and responsibilities.
- 3. Bargaining unit members agree that the Internet/Intranet may not be used for commercial for profit-purposes.

4. Bargaining unit members are aware that the Employer does not warrant that the function of the Internet/Intranet will meet any specific requirements or that they will be error free or uninterrupted.

B. Privacy Issues

- 1. The parties recognize that there is no legitimate expectation of privacy in electronic communications.
- 2. The Employer will provide each bargaining unit member with a password for accessing the Internet/Intranet and electronic mail. Bargaining unit members agree to maintain confidentiality with regard to their passwords, however, it is understood that the Employer will have access to all bargaining unit members' passwords. The Employer agrees to maintain bargaining unit members' passwords in a safe and confidential location where access to such passwords by students and third parties is as secure as possible.

Section 4. Preparation and Conference Time

Preparation time shall be teacher directed to prepare for classroom learning and instruction.

A. Elementary

- 1. On early release days, as described in Article VI, Section 4.B.E., that involve reduced instruction time, all preparation and planning time shall be reduced proportionately to the reduction in instructional time.
- 2. Unless prevented by emergency conditions, all 1.0 elementary teachers will have 55 duty free (non-directed) minutes per day for preparation and planning. Planning time minutes will be contiguous when possible.
- 3. With the exception of early release days as described in Article VI, Section 4.B.E., any elementary teacher whose planning time is adversely affected by early-release/late arrival days will be compensated for time thus lost through one of the two following means:
 - a. Release time equal to the time lost or:
 - b. Compensation for time lost at per diem. The teacher and principal will work together to establish suitable quid pro quo time release time. If release

time is the option chosen, the time exchange will be documented between five days prior and five days following the lost planning time using a form that is mutually agreed upon by the District and the Association. If it is not possible to determine a suitable time exchange, then compensation will be provided at the per diem rate of pay.

B. Secondary

- 1. All teaching staff, grades 6-12, shall have a daily preparation period of at least one full instructional session's length.
- 2. For fall conferences, staff will be provided 1 early release day on the day of conferences, and early release days on the day following conferences and the day preceding Thanksgiving break. At the discretion of the District, a late arrival day may be substituted for the early release scheduled for the day following conferences.
- 3. For grades 9-12, spring conferences, an early release shall be provided the day of conferences and an early release or late arrival shall be provided the day following conferences.

For grades 6-8 spring conferences, an early release shall be provided either the day of conferences or a day prior to conferences, and an early release or late arrival shall be provided the day following conferences. Time spent in conferences above the amount of time given by early release/late arrival days will be compensated through principal directed hours.

- C. Part-time certificated employees under individual contract with the District shall receive preparation time on a prorated basis.
- D. Preparation time shall be provided each teacher beginning the first day of school.
- E. Elementary Early Release and Conferences
 There will be a two hour early release each Friday of the school year
 for all elementary staff. This time will be used for the following
 purposes:
 - 1. Planning and Preparation

Planning and preparation time will be free of other assigned duties.

2. Professional Learning Communities (PLC)

PLCs can be used on the early release time for meetings. Such meetings will be held at the discretion of the members of the PLC.

The parties commit to work toward an equitable utilization of the time referenced in #1 and #2 above.

3. Conferences

Conferences will take place during the month of October And March. Teachers will use the early release time for Conferences. In the event parents cannot attend Friday early release conferences, and that parents require evening conferences, the early release days will be considered quid pro quo for time spent in evening conferences.

It is the expectation that all parents will be allowed the opportunity to conference in the above time frame. Teachers will attempt to schedule conferences for all their parents. In the event that a teacher holds more than 24 conferences, that teacher will receive compensation at a rate of 20 minutes per conference.

Section 5. Covering of Classes

- A. Arrangements for the covering of a class when a teacher is going to be absent shall be made one day in advance except in the case of an emergency.
- B. A request by a teacher for another teacher to cover a class may be agreed to, with approval of the Principal required.
- C. If an employee is asked by an administrator and agrees to cover the class of another employee thereby precluding utilization of their preparation period, such employee shall be compensated at the prorated per diem rate of pay.
- D. If an elementary teacher misses a planning time due to lack of substitute coverage for a specialist absence (i.e. there is no substitute for the music teacher and therefore no music specialist time) the classroom teacher will be compensated for that time at per diem.

If an elementary teacher that does not normally have their own class of students (counselor, facilitator) is asked to cover for an absent teacher, they will be compensated for that time at per diem. This provision does not extend to classroom teachers with full time student teachers that are asked to cover for an absent teacher.

Section 6. District Class Size/Workload

The District and the Association recognize class size as an important factor in student learning.

A. Class Size Limits

The recommended class size/workload for the Mount Vernon School District shall be the following number of students in a class:

Grade Grouping	<u>Trigger Number</u>
K - 3	23
4	28
5 - 6	30
7 - 8	31
9 -12	33
Physical Education (9-12)	36 with a one-time adjustment only
Special Education (K - 12)	20
ELL Caseload	100 with a second adjustment at 130
OT/PT/SLP (K-12)	50
Psychologists (K-12)	1000
Nurses (K-12)	1500

Special Education. In the case of special education, student numbers listed above are for IEP caseloads (Report No. P223H). Magnet programs shall be staffed at a lower caseload because of the higher needs of the students. Magnet caseloads shall trigger at 15 students for developmentally delayed programs, and 8 for behaviorally disordered programs. Relief for magnet programs will be accessed through the Special Services Allocation Fund.

<u>Multiage Classes</u>. Class size for multiage classes shall be based on the lowest grade level in the multiage configuration.

<u>Team Teaching</u>. In the case of special team teaching programs, the above recommended class size numbers shall be applied per teacher.

<u>PE/Music</u>. Additionally, grades K-5 PE/music and library teachers shall have a maximum of 45 thirty minute instructional sessions per week or the equivalent. It is understood that programs that require large group instruction at all levels.

B. Waivers

The Association also acknowledges that the involvement of staff in the decision making process may result in decisions which cause class size/workloads to exceed the limits outlined above. Such decisions shall be formalized, in writing, signed by all affected parties and provided to the Association President/designee and the Superintendent/designee. If such a decision/agreement results in class size/workloads exceeding the limits outlined above, the class size/workload limits and support included in this section are not applicable.

C. Class Size/Workload Support Process

Eligibility for class size support is based upon district enrollment counts two weeks after the start of each semester/trimester. When trigger numbers outlined in Section A. are reached, teachers are eligible for class size/workload support. When a teacher's class size meets the trigger number, teachers are eligible for support as outlined in Section D. below. When several classes trigger at one time, teachers may consider pooling the resources and the selection of a group solution in lieu of individual solutions.

Teachers will submit "Request for Class Size Support" form to principal for authorization. Resources will be available immediately upon principal approval.

D. Support

- Grades K-3 trigger = 23
- Grades 4 trigger = 28
- Grades 5-6 trigger = 30

- Grades 7-8 trigger = 31
- Grades 9-12 trigger = 33

Classes up to 3 students beyond the trigger may select from the support below. If classes are 3 students or more beyond the trigger, the support is doubled.

Option A: 1 hour aide time. Note: This amount would be prorated on a monthly basis. (When class size falls below the trigger, the instructional aide will be removed from the assignment.)

Option B: \$167 dollars of instructional supplies/materials each month when class size exceeds trigger (minimum of at least two student calendar days in a given month).

Option C: One full day of release time every ten school days.

Option D: Additional pay will be provided according to the formulas below:

Elementary Classroom Teachers	Specialists	IEPs Management Caseload	Secondary Teachers	Secondary Teachers
\$30.00 per day	\$10 per hour contact time	\$10 per day	\$10 per day	\$10 per hour contact time (\$14/class)

Those choosing option D will submit an additional pay form documenting time over trigger.

Option E. Another option mutually agreeable to both the principal and the teacher.

E. Class Size/Workload Support Allocation Fund

The District shall provide a fund each year of this Agreement to pay for solutions requested as a result of an overload as defined in A. above. The fund shall be \$200,000. An additional \$25,000 will be added to this fund if the September through February annual average FTE enrollment exceeds the enrollment projection by 100 student FTE's or more. The enrollment count is reported on the State's F-195 Form. This count excludes alternative programs of Emerson, Running Start and SFLC. (Enrollment projections for purposes of this section will not include budgeted and actual enrollment in these programs). In these instances, the additional funds would be available by March 15. The Association acknowledges that this fund is the total amount of money available

to address overloads for each year of the Agreement. Thus, if the fund is depleted before the end of the year, and an overload occurs, the support cost items in D. shall no longer be available and the employee and immediate supervisor shall work toward a mutually-agreeable non-cost resolution.

Allocation model(s) will be established in consultation with the Association and the class size/ workload team.

F. Limitations

If the employee requesting class size/workload is not satisfied by the support allocation proposed, he/she may request a review of his/her application by the class size/workload team. It is understood that in the event a teacher's class size/workload drops below the trigger number, class size support ends.

G. Conditions

The above agreement will be in effect if:

- 1. The District continues to pass its local levies.
- 2. Actions taken by OSPI or at a state or federal level do not significantly cause a negative impact on resources provided to the District.

Section 7. Split Grade Level Classes

In recognition of the extra time required to plan and deliver curriculum to two grade levels simultaneously, K-5 employees with split grade levels classes, will be paid 1 extra day at per diem.

Section 8. Faculty Facilities

- A. The Board will make available, if possible, in new school construction, at least one room of appropriate size, adequately furnished and vented, which may be reserved for use as a faculty room. In presently utilized facilities, where feasible, a teacher's room will be provided.
- B. Outside telephone lines shall be made available for teachers' use. The location of the phones shall be such as to insure privacy of conversation where physically possible.
- C. Teachers shall have safe and healthful conditions under which to carry out their professional duties.

- D. In an effort to support a healthy workplace for teachers, every October 1 and February 15 principals/supervisors will review daily schedules to ensure that within every three (3) consecutive hours provision is made for ten (10) minutes of restroom break for teachers in grade K-12.
- E. The parties recognize the need for itinerant staff to have appropriate workspace in the buildings. The district will provide workspace that ensures privacy, minimizes disruptions and is balanced with the need to protect staff.

In order to promote confidentiality and effective interaction with students, the District will provide the following:

- 1. Confidential phone and voice mail access.
- 2. Dedicated, lockable storage space accessible to each itinerant staff person at each work site they serve.
- 3. Computer with network and secure printer access.

The following process is recommended for use at the building level to attempt to ensure that the above needs are addressed.

- 1. Each August itinerant staff assigned to the building, e.g., SLP, psychologists, OT/PT's, nurses and social workers will meet with the principal/designee to identify itinerant workspace/equipment needs as described above for the ensuing year.
- 2. Itinerant staff will meet with the building principal/designee in the fall by mid-September to finalize actual space/equipment assignments or plans to provide the space/equipment.
- 3. The principal/designee and certificated staff may agree to include other building or itinerant staff in these meetings.

In the event itinerant staff feel they do not have access to appropriate workspace and/or necessary equipment, the parties will attempt to resolve the issue in a problem-solving manner. If the concern is not resolved in a timely manner, the matter will be referred to the Superintendent's designee.

Section 9. Classroom Para-professionals

Whenever, in the judgment of the Administration, such usage is feasible, the Mount Vernon School District may utilize qualified

teacher aides, both paid and volunteer, to assist as ancillary personnel to the teaching staff and to assist with educational programs of the District. The judgment of whether to use or not use classroom para-professionals is not grievable under Article VIII, Section 1., Grievance Procedures.

Section 10. Employee's Reimbursable Expenses

- A. When an employee is authorized to attend out-of-district activities the following expenses, as approved by the administration, will be reimbursed: Registration, transportation, lodging, meals, and mileage (reimbursed at the prevailing State mileage rate).
- B. An employee shall be reimbursed for authorized expenditures within twenty (20) business days of submitting all necessary completed paperwork including the Expense Reimbursement Form, original receipts, and budget approval to the Business Office. Expenditure reimbursement instructions can be found on the District intranet along with the Expense Reimbursement Form
- C. The District shall pay the prevailing state mileage rate to employees specifically assigned to and traveling between schools and to other in-district locations which have been specifically approved and assigned by the District as part of the employee's assignment. Such assignments will be specified by the District and affected employees notified.
 - 1. Employees required to travel between buildings on the same day shall be provided adequate time for travel. Where necessary, this time will include a reasonable amount of time for classroom preparation (for both exiting and entering classrooms). Travel time will be exclusive of lunch and preparation time.
- D. The District shall support the purchase of supplies and instructional materials necessary to enable employees to fulfill their teaching responsibilities. Employees shall obtain approval from the appropriate budgetary authority prior to making any purchase. Following this pre-approval, employees shall be reimbursed upon presentation of an itemized, original paid receipt for expenditures needed to maintain classrooms supplies and materials.

Section 11. Classroom Visitations

In order to provide parents and patrons of the District an opportunity to visit classrooms with the least loss of continuity to the teaching process:

- A. Whenever possible, arrangements to visit a classroom by persons other than District personnel shall be made through the building principal prior to the class visit.
- B. When possible, the teacher will be provided the opportunity to confer with the classroom visitor either before or after the visit.
- C. When a parent/guardian requests of a teacher the release, to their custody, of a student during school hours, the teacher will direct the parent to the principal's office for approval. The student will be released to the principal's office upon notification from the principal's office.

Section 12. Student Teachers and Interns

- A. Teachers may request student teachers or interns and/or may give consent to the acceptance of a student teacher or intern as a professional responsibility. No teacher will be required to accept a student teacher or intern.
- B. A teacher shall have taught at least two (2) years before being assigned a student teacher or intern.
- C. A teacher shall have taught at least one (1) year in the District No. 320 before being assigned a student teacher or intern.
- D. No teacher will be allowed a student teacher or an intern more than once in any three-year period. Exceptions to the three-year period will be considered by the District if requested by the teacher involved. Each request will be considered on its own merits and the District decision will be final.

Section 13. Overnight Supervision, Camp Orkila and Mountain School

When staff are in supervisory positions on overnight trips they will be given \$150/night as compensation. The District shall determine the necessary number of staff to supervise.

In addition, there will be an orientation prior to the overnight trip during which staff will be given clear directions describing the expectations regarding their duties while on the overnight trip. Supervision of these overnight field trips will be voluntary.

ARTICLE VII. EVALUATION

Section 1. Purpose

The evaluation procedures set forth herein shall be to improve the educational program by improving the quality of instruction. The evaluation process shall recognize strengths, identify areas needing improvement, and provide support for professional growth. It is the belief of both parties that the evaluation process will be most effectively implemented when there is strong collaboration between the evaluator and the bargaining unit member.

Section 2. Applicability of Teacher/Principal Evaluation Program (TPEP)

The Teacher/Principal Evaluation Program (TPEP) only applies to classroom teachers, specifically those staff with an assigned group of students who provide academically focused instruction for students.

The term "classroom teacher" for the purposes of evaluation, does not include bargaining unit members who do not work with regularly recurring and specifically defined groups of students or those who serve a role that does not easily lead to a measurement of student growth between two points in time in a given academic year. Those bargaining unit members who do not meet this definition will remain under the previous evaluation system, Article VII, Section 13 of this agreement.

Presently, the following assignments have been identified as not meeting this definition: Speech Language Pathologists, Occupational Therapists, Physical Therapists, Nurses, Psychologists, Counselors, Librarians, and Instructional Coaches. In the event a new assignment is created during the life of this agreement, the parties will meet and determine the appropriate evaluation system based upon the definition above.

Section 3. Professional Development

Prior to being evaluated under this Article the District shall provide professional development relevant to the framework and evaluation process. Teachers shall receive adequate professional development to comprehend the framework and understand the evaluation process.

Each employee will be provided a copy of the evaluation criteria, observation forms, Student Growth Goal Setting forms, and other

procedural components for either the comprehensive or focused evaluation, depending upon the employee's placement. These forms are provided as a template and are to be used at the discretion of the employee, with the exception of the pre-observation form, which may be required by the evaluator. Principals will provide the material noted above to employees under their supervision within fifteen (15) days prior to their first observation or by October 15, whichever is sooner. Employees hired after October 15 will receive materials specific to the comprehensive evaluation within fifteen days of employment.

No teacher shall be evaluated by an evaluator who has not been trained in observation, evaluation, and the use of the specific instructional framework and rubrics contained in this agreement.

Section 4. Definitions

- 1. Criteria One of the eight state defined categories to be scored.
- 2. Component A subsection of each criteria which provides more information about each criteria.
- 3. Artifact Artifacts shall mean any products generated, developed or used by a certificated teacher. Artifacts should not be created specifically for the evaluation system. Artifacts should only be used: (1) to support components that are not directly observable and (2) provide evidence when the Evaluator did not find sufficient evidence to support a score of proficient or distinguished during direct observation. Additionally, tools or forms used in the evaluation process may be considered artifacts.
- 4. Evidence Means observed or observable practice, products or results of a certificated classroom teacher's work that demonstrates his/her knowledge and skills with respect to the four-level rating system. Evidence is derived from day to day work. Information obtained from anonymous sources is not considered evidence. Information obtained from student and parent sources is not considered evidence unless substantiated. The original claim will not be referenced or contained in the evaluation file. Student and parent surveys are not considered evidence.
- 5. Student Growth The change in student achievements between two points in time in the current school year.

- 6. Student Growth Data Data obtained from relevant and appropriate multiple measures. Measures may include both formative and summative assessments that predominately originate at the classroom level and are initiated by the teacher such as classroom based assessments, school based assessments, and district assessments. The teacher shall select the two (2) points of time within the same school year. Assessments used to demonstrate growth must predominately originate at the classroom level and be initiated by the classroom teacher. Assessments used to demonstrate growth must be appropriate, relevant, and may include both formative and summative measures.
- 7. Four-level rating system means the continuum of performance that indicates the extent to which the criteria have been met or exceeded.
- 8. Not Satisfactory When a teacher receives a Level 1, Unsatisfactory summative score (1) or a Level 2 Basic (2) if the classroom teacher is on a continuing contract with more than five years teaching experience and the teacher received a Level 2 comprehensive summative evaluation rating for two consecutive years or for two years within a consecutive three year period.
- 9. Evaluator A certificated administrator who has been trained in observation, evaluation and the use of the specific instructional framework and rubrics contained in this agreement.
- 10. Observe or Observation-means the gathering of evidence made through classroom worksite visits or other visits, work samples, or conversations that allow for the gathering of evidence of the performance of assigned duties for the purpose of examining evidence over time against the instructional framework rubrics.

Section 5. Criteria, Framework, and Scoring

- A. The state evaluation criteria are:
 - 1. Centering instruction on high expectations for student achievement;
 - 2. Demonstrating effective teaching practices;

- 3. Recognizing individual student learning needs and developing strategies to address those needs;
- 4. Providing clear and intentional focus on subject matter content and curriculum;
- 5. Fostering and managing a safe, positive learning environment;
- 6. Using multiple data elements to modify instruction and improve student learning;
- 7. Communicating and collaborating with parents and the school community; and
- 8. Exhibiting collaborative and collegial practices focused on improving instructional practices and student learning.

B. Instructional Framework

The parties have agreed to the adopted evidence-based instructional framework developed by Dr. Robert Marzano and approved by OSPI. The instructional framework is included the appendix section of this agreement.

Upon mutual agreement the parties may select a different OSPI-approved instructional framework.

C. Criteria Performance Scoring

- 1. The following four-level rating system will be used to evaluate certificated classroom teachers as defined below. The rating describes performance along a continuum that indicates the extent to which the criteria have been met or exceeded. The performance ratings are:
 - (1) Unsatisfactory: Professional practice at Level 1 shows evidence of not understanding the concepts underlying individual components of the criteria. This level of practice is ineffective and inefficient and may represent practice that is harmful to student learning progress, professional learning environment, or individual teaching or leading practice. This level requires immediate intervention and specific support.
 - (2) Basic: Professional practice at Level 2 shows a developing understanding of the knowledge and skills of the criteria required to practice, but performance is inconsistent over a

period of time due to lack of experience, expertise, and/or commitment. This level may be considered minimally competent for teachers or principals early in their careers but insufficient for more experienced teachers or principals. This level requires specific support.

- (3) Proficient: Professional practice at Level 3 shows evidence of thorough knowledge of all aspects of the profession. This is successful, accomplished, professional, and effective practice. Teaching and leading at this level utilizes a broad repertoire of strategies and activities to support student learning. At this level, teaching and leading a school are strengthened and expanded through purposeful, collaborative sharing and learning with colleagues as well as ongoing self-reflection and professional improvement.
- (4) Distinguished: Professional practice at Level 4 is that of a master professional whose practices operate at a qualitatively different level from those of other professional peers. To achieve this rating, a teacher or principal would need to have received a majority of distinguished ratings on the criterion scores. A teacher or principal at this level must show evidence of average to high impact on student growth. Ongoing, reflective teaching and leading is demonstrated through the highest level of expertise and commitment to all students' learning, challenging professional growth, and collaborative practice.
- 2. A classroom teacher will receive one of the four performances ratings for each of the eight criteria.
- 3. The average of the component scores in each criterion will be the score for that criterion. When a final criterion score includes a fractional number (for example 2.3) all scorers with a fractional number of .5 or above will be rounded up. For example, a score of 2.3 would result in a final criterion score of 2 (Basic) and a score of 2.5 would result in a final criterion score of 3 (Proficient).
- D. Summative Performance Rating for the Comprehensive Evaluation

A classroom teacher shall receive a summative performance rating for each of the eight (8) state evaluation criteria. The overall summative score is determined by totaling the eight (8) criterion-level scores as follows (see appendix "Comprehensive Evaluation Scoring):

- 1. 8-14 Unsatisfactory
- 2. 15-21 Basic

- 22-28 Proficient
 29-32 Distinguished
- E. Student Growth Criterion Score for the Comprehensive Evaluation

Embedded in the instructional framework are five (5) components designed as student growth components. These components are embedded in criteria as SG 3.1, SG 3.2, SG 6.1, SG 6.2, and SG 8.1. Evaluators add up the raw score on these components and the employee is given a score of low, average or high based on the scores below (see appendix -- "Comprehensive Evaluation Scoring):

- 1. 5-12 Low
- 2. 13-17 Average
- 3. 18-20 High

Student growth data will be taken from multiple sources, and must be appropriate and relevant to the teacher's assignment. The teacher will identify the formal and informal assessments of student progress they propose to use to measure student progress on the student growth goal setting template (Appended to this Article). During the goal setting conference the employee and his/her evaluator will discuss identified student growth goals and assessments used to measure identified goals. The teacher and evaluator will reach consensus regarding final goals and assessments. If the teacher and evaluator are unable to reach consensus, the teacher's decision will stand if the employee was evaluated at a proficient level or above in the previous year. If the employee is a provisional employee or is a continuing employee rated below proficient in the previous year, the evaluator's recommendation will stand.

The following are the outcomes of the student growth impact rating analysis:

- 1. If a teacher receives a 4 Distinguished summative score and a Low student growth score, he/she must be automatically moved to the 3 Proficient level for his/her summative score.
- 2. If a teacher receives a 1 Unsatisfactory on any of the five student growth components, it will trigger the student growth inquiry plan.
- 3. Within two months of receiving a Low on student growth or at the beginning of the following school year, the teacher will identify and the evaluator must initiate the following:

- a. Examine student growth data in conjunction with other evidence including observation, artifacts, and other student and teacher information based on appropriate classroom, school district, and state-based tools and practices and/or;
- b. Examine extenuating circumstances which may include one or more of the following:
 - i. Goal setting process;
 - ii. Content and expectations;
 - iii. Student attendance;
 - iv. Extent to which curriculum, standards and assessment are aligned; and/or
- c. Schedule monthly conferences focused on improving student growth to include one or more of the following topics:
 - i. Student growth goal revisions, refinement, and progress;
 - ii. Best practices related to instruction areas in need and curriculum
 - iii. Best practices related to growth data collection and interpretation; and/or
- d. Create and implement a professional development plan to specifically address student growth areas.

Section 6. Procedural Components of Evaluation

A. Notification

Each teacher will be notified by October 15th of his/her evaluator and which form will be used for evaluation

B. Teacher Self-Assessment

1. Prior to the Pre-Observation Conference, the teacher may be asked to complete a Self-Assessment form. A teacher shall only be required to complete the Self-Assessment form if compensation is provided at per diem, or time is provided to complete the form. No Teacher shall be required to share this form with their evaluator.

C. Student Growth Goal Setting

The teacher shall identify a student growth goal for Components SG-3.1, SG-6.1 and SG-8.1 on a Goal Setting form. The goal for SG-6.1 and SG-8.1 may be the same goal. During the goal setting conference, the employee and his/her evaluator will discuss the identified student growth goals. The teacher and evaluator will reach consensus regarding the goal(s). If the teacher and evaluator are unable to reach consensus, the teacher's decision will stand if the employee was evaluated at a proficient level or above in the previous year. If the employee is a provisional_employee or is a continuing employee rated below proficient in the previous year, the evaluator's recommendation will stand.

D. Unscheduled (Informal) Observations

- 1. An unscheduled (sometimes referred to as informal) observation is a documented observation that is not required to be pre-scheduled. Additional informal observations may be necessary to collect additional evidence.
- 2. An evaluator may conduct any number of unscheduled observations.
- 3. Observations do not have to be in the classroom. Department or collegial meetings may be used for unscheduled observations. Unscheduled observations may be documented in writing and if documented, a copy will be provided to the teacher within three (3) days of completion of the form and not more than 10 school days from the time of the unscheduled observation. If there is an area of concern based upon any such unscheduled observation, the written documentation of the observation must be provided to the teacher in order for that evidence to be used in the evaluation process.
- 4. Any evidence gathered through informal observations that may have an adverse affect on the evaluation must be brought to the teacher's attention within 10 school days.
- 5. Any time after an unscheduled observation a teacher may request a conference with the administrator to discuss the observation. In the event that said documentation is provided to the teacher, the teacher shall have the right to attach written comments to the documentation of the informal observation.

E. Record-Keeping and Utilization of eVAL

The District shall adhere to the following:

- The final evaluation form and teacher's written comments, if 1. applicable shall be moved to the teacher's personnel file at the end of the school year.
- 2. Evaluators shall notify the teacher of any additional evidence submitted to eVAL in a timely fashion.
- 3. Teachers shall not be required to share self-assessment information utilized within the eVAL system.
- 4. Teachers shall not be required to use the eVAL tool if a mutually acceptable alternative is available. A sample alternative form is appended to this Article.
- 5. Any and all data entered into eVAL shall be considered confidential. The District will give notice to the affected teacher and the Association president if a public records request is made for any evaluation material.
- All observations shall be conducted openly. Mechanical or 6. electronic devices shall not be used to listen to or record any class unless agreed to by both parties.
- F. The school district superintendent may make a determination to remove an employee from provisional status if the employee has received a summative rating of Proficient (3) or Distinguished (4) during the second year of employment by the district.

Section 7. Comprehensive Evaluation

Α.

A Comprehensive Evaluation will include evaluation of all eight state criteria. A teacher eligible for Focused Evaluations must complete a Comprehensive Evaluation once every four (4) years.

Pre-observation Conference The pre-observation conference shall be held prior to the first formal observation. The teacher and evaluator will mutually agree when to conference. The purpose of the pre-observation conference is to

discuss the employee's goals, establish a date for the scheduled observation, and discuss such matters as the professional activities to be observed, their content, objectives, strategies, and possible observable evidence to meet the scoring criteria.

If possible, the pre-observation conference should take place in the teacher's classroom.

It shall be the employee's duty to specify, in writing, any conditions existing at that time, which the employee believes impair his or her ability to perform.

B. Formal Observation

- 1. At least two (2 formal observations shall be conducted by the evaluator, Employees whose assignments require their performance of duties at more than one building in the district shall have one evaluator assigned to observe.
- 2. The first of at least two (2) formal observations for each employee shall be conducted by January 15th. The total annual observation time cannot be less than sixty (60) minutes. In general, no formal observation will be less than twenty (20) minutes in length. At least one of the formal observations shall not be less than thirty (30) minutes in length. A teacher may request additional observations.
- 3. The observations will occur no later than ten (10) days after the pre-observation meeting unless mutually agreed.
- 4. Observations will not take place on the day before winter or spring break unless agreed to by the employee.
 With the exception of extenuating circumstances, the evaluator will document all formal observations using eVAL within ten (10) workdays of the observation date.

The second formal observations will occur no sooner than four (4) weeks (this timeframe may be waived by mutual consent) after the first formal observation and ideally, in different semesters or trimesters so that reasonable time can be provided for continuing professional growth.

5. The second scheduled observations will occur prior to May 1st, unless both parties agree to a later date.

C. Post-Observation Conference

- 1. A post-observation conference will take place after each formal observation.
- 2. The post-observation conference between the evaluator and the teacher will be held no later than ten (10) working school

days after the formal observation. The timeline may be extended by mutual consent under extraordinary circumstances.

- 3. If possible, the post-observation conference should take place in the teacher's classroom.
- 4. The purpose of the post-observation conference is to review the evaluator's and teacher's evidence related to the scoring criteria during the observation and to discuss the teacher's performance. Additional evidence and/or artifacts may be submitted by the teacher.
- 5. A teacher whose workload exceeds any recommended maximums pursuant to Article 6, Section 5 shall be entitled to have a notation placed on the teacher's formal evaluation report.
- 6. If there is an area of concern, the evaluator will identify, in writing, specific concerns for the applicable criteria, and will reference the specific rubric relevant to the concern, as well as providing possible specific recommendations for improvement.

In the event the second observation results in a majority of the observable components being below proficient, the teacher will be offered an additional formal observation conducted by an MVSD evaluator. The teacher may request a different MVSD evaluator for this additional observation.

- An additional formal observation conducted by a mutually agreed upon evaluator,
- A review of the evidence by a mutually agreed upon evaluator.
- 7. The teacher may attach written comments to observations.

D. Summative Evaluation Conference

- 1. Prior to June 1, the evaluator and teacher shall meet to discuss the teacher's summative evaluation. By mutual agreement, this date may be extended. The summative evaluation, including the student growth score, must be determined by an analysis of evidence over the course of the year.
- 2. All evidence, measures and observations used in developing the summative evaluation score must be a product of the school year in which the evaluation is conducted.

- 3. Both parties will sign two (2) copies of the Summative Evaluation Report to indicate receipt of the document. The signature of the teacher does not, however, necessarily imply that the employee agrees with its contents. Each party will retain a copy.
- 4. Teachers shall have the right to attach additional comments or a rebuttal to the Summative Evaluation within 10 school days of having received it.
- E. Evaluators shall not be members of the bargaining unit.

Section 8. Evaluation Results

- A. Evaluation results shall be used:
 - 1. To acknowledge, recognize, and encourage excellence in professional performance.
 - 2. To document the level of performance by a teacher of his/her assigned duties.
 - 3. To identify specific areas in which the teacher may need improvement according to the criteria included on the evaluation instrument.
 - 4. To document performance by a teacher judged unsatisfactory based on the district evaluation
- B. Evaluation results shall not be:
 - 1. Shared or published.
 - 2. Used to determine any type of base or additional compensation.
- C. Evaluators shall base individual scores on a teacher's performance of his/her assigned duties.
- Section 9. Support for Basic or Unsatisfactory Continuing Employees
 - A. The Association will be notified when any teacher is judged below Proficient on his or her summative evaluation.
 - B. When a teacher is judged below Proficient (3), additional support shall be provided to support the employee's professional development the school year following the below-Proficient rating

- 1. The teacher shall be granted release time to observe a colleague if appropriate to the area of concern.
- 2. Written feedback regarding the observed deficiencies with recommendations or directives for improvement that includes examples and/or strategies where appropriate.
- C. Other options for support may be utilized to assist the teacher as determined by the District. Examples may include:
 - 1. Release time to attend relevant in-service or training, if training is available, that is appropriate to the employee's area of concern.
 - 2. Release time to attend relevant in-service or training, if training is available, that is appropriate to the employee's area of concern.
 - 3. The building administrator will conduct additional observations with written feedback.
 - 4. A mentor or coach may be assigned to provide support if appropriate to the need.
 - 5. At grades 6-12, limiting the number of preparations to no more than three classes with different titles unless the employee is the only teacher teaching in a content area or a limited number of teachers in a single content area restrict the District's ability to limit preparations.

Section 10. Probation

Provisional employees shall be specifically excluded from this probationary procedure, provided, before non-renewing a provisional employee for alleged performance deficiencies, the evaluator shall have made a good faith effort beyond the minimum requirements of the evaluation process.

At any time after October 15, a classroom teacher whose work is judged not satisfactory based on the scoring criteria shall be placed on probation and notified in writing of the specific areas of deficiencies and provided a suggested written specific and reasonable plan of improvement.

- A. A classroom teacher's work is not judged satisfactory, and therefore shall be placed on probation, when the overall comprehensive score is 1 Unsatisfactory. A continuing contract teacher under RCW 28A.405.210 with more than five (5) years of teaching experience whose comprehensive summative evaluation score is 2 Basic for two (2) consecutive years or for two (2) years within a consecutive three (3) year time period shall also be placed on probation.
- B. Teachers may only be placed on probation from the Comprehensive evaluation system described above.
- C. In the event that an evaluator determines that the performance of a teacher under his/her supervision merits probation, the evaluator shall report the same in writing to the Superintendent. The report shall include the following:
 - 1. The evaluation report prepared pursuant to the provisions of Section 9 above (Procedural Components of Evaluation), and
 - 2. A recommended specific and reasonable program designed to assist the teacher in improving his or her performance.
- D. If the Superintendent concurs with the evaluator's judgment that the performance of the employee is unsatisfactory, the Superintendent shall place the teacher in a probationary status for a period of not less than sixty (60) school days, any time after October 15. The probationary period may extend into the following school year if the teacher has more than five (5) years of teaching experience and has a comprehensive summative rating as of May 15th of 1 Unsatisfactory. Before being placed on probation, the Association and the teacher shall be given notice of action of the Superintendent which shall contain the following information:
 - 1. Specific areas of performance deficiencies identified from the instructional framework;
 - 2. A suggested specific and reasonable program for improvement;
 - 3. A statement indicating the duration of the probationary period and that the purpose of the probationary period is to give the teacher the opportunity to demonstrate improvement in his or her area or areas of deficiency.
- E. The establishment of the probationary period and the giving of the notice to the employee shall be by the School District Superintendent and need not be submitted to the Board of Directors for approval.

F. A plan of improvement will be developed and will include the specific areas of deficiency linked to the instructional framework and associated components and criteria, along with a specific and reasonable program for improvement, which shall include specific measurable objectives and examples or strategies as appropriate designed to assist the particular employee to overcome the specific deficiency(ies). The plan will also include assistance to be provided. The teacher and/or his or her Association representative may request modification of the program for improvement prior to program implementation. The plan will include a system for periodic feedback during the term of probation, supports, and the dates those supports will be put in place.

G. Evaluation During the Probationary Period

- 1. At or about the time of the delivery of a probationary letter, the evaluator shall hold a personal conference with the probationary teacher to discuss performance deficiencies and the remedial measures to be taken.
- 2. Once the areas of deficiency and criteria for improvement for the probation plan have been determined, they may not be changed.
- 3. During the probationary period the evaluator shall meet with the probationary teacher at least twice monthly to supervise and make a written evaluation of the progress, if any, made by the teacher. The provisions of Section 6E (Record keeping) shall apply to the documentation of observation reports during the probationary period.
- 4. The probationary teacher may be removed from probation at any time if he or she has demonstrated improvement to the satisfaction of the evaluator in those areas specifically detailed in his/her notice of probation.
- 5. Should the evaluator not authorize an additional evaluator, the probationary teacher may request that an additional certificated evaluator become part of the probationary process and the request must be granted. This evaluator will be assigned by the ESD and will be jointly selected by the District and the Association from a list of evaluation specialists compiled by the ESD.
- 6. The Association reserves the right to use a third party evaluator to inform the Association of any progress made by the probationer. The Association will notify the district-

appointed evaluator in advance of any observations that will occur by the third party evaluator.

- H. A teacher who is on a plan of improvement must be removed from probation if he or she has demonstrated improvement in the areas prescribed as deficient. The teacher must be removed from probation if a teacher with five (5) or fewer years of experience scores at 2 Basic or above and a teacher of more than five (5) years scores at 3 Proficient or above.
- I. Lack of necessary improvement during the established probationary period, as specifically documented in writing with notification to the probationer constitutes grounds for a finding of probable cause under RCW 28.A.405.210.
- J. Evaluator's Post-Probation Report Unless the probationary teacher has previously been removed from probation, the evaluator shall submit a written report to the Superintendent at the end of the probationary period which report shall set forth one (1) of the following recommendations for further action:
 - 1. That the teacher has demonstrated sufficient improvement in the stated areas of deficiency to justify the removal of the probationary status; or
 - 2. That the teacher has demonstrated sufficient improvement in the stated areas of deficiency to justify the removal of the probationary status if accompanied by a letter identifying areas where further improvement is required; or
 - 3. A probation period may be extended into the following school year if a teacher has five or more years of experience and has a comprehensive summative evaluation performance rating of less than level two (2) as of May 15th.
 - 4. That the teacher has not demonstrated sufficient improvement in the stated areas of deficiency and action should be taken to non-renew the employment contract of the teacher.
- K. Action of the Superintendent Following a review of the postprobation report the Superintendent shall determine which of the alternative courses of action is proper and shall take appropriate action to implement such determination.
- L. Records of probation and supporting documentation for an unsatisfactory evaluation will be maintained in the teacher's file for five full years of service, and will, if no further unsatisfactory analysis is made in the interim, be removed and destroyed.

- M. If a procedural error occurs in the implementation of the probationer's plan for improvement, the error does not invalidate the plan for improvement or evaluation activities unless the error materially affects the effectiveness of the plan or the ability to evaluate the probationer's performance.
- N. Immediately following the completion of a probationary period that does not produce performance changes detailed in the initial notice of deficiencies and program for improvement, the teacher may be removed from his or her assignment and placed into an alternative assignment for the remainder of the school_year. This reassignment may not displace another employee nor may it adversely affect the probationary employee's compensation or benefits for the remainder of the employee's contract year. If such reassignment is not possible, the District may, at its option, place the employee on paid leave for the balance of the contract term.

Section 11-Non-Renewal (Discharge)

When a continuing contract teacher with five (5) or more years of experience receives a comprehensive summative evaluation rating of 1 – Unsatisfactory for two (2) consecutive years, the District shall, within ten (10) days of the completion of the Final Evaluation Conference or May 15th, whichever occurs first, implement the teacher notification of non-renewal as provided in RCW28A.405.300.

The teacher who is, at any time, issued a written notice of probable cause for non-renewal or discharge by the Superintendent pursuant to this Article shall have ten (10) days following receipt of said notice to file any notice of appeal as provided by statute.

Section 12-Focused Evaluation

In years when a Comprehensive Evaluation is not required, classroom teachers who received a comprehensive evaluation performance rating of Level 3 or above in the previous school year are eligible to complete a Focused Evaluation.

A Focused Evaluation includes an assessment of one of the eight criteria selected for a performance rating. The Focused Evaluation will include the student growth rubrics of the selected criterion. If criterion 3, 6 or 8 are selected, evaluators will use those student growth rubrics. If criterion 1, 2, 4, 5, or 7 is selected, evaluators will use criterion 3 or 6 student growth rubrics.

The selected criteria must be approved by the teacher's evaluator and may have been identified in a previous comprehensive summative evaluation as benefitting from additional attention, or as an area of expertise to be further developed. A group of teachers may focus on the same evaluation criteria and share professional growth activities.

The role of the evaluator is to assist the employee in developing the professional growth activity, and then to assist in its implementation, particularly by making reasonable efforts to supply the resources needed to implement it.

A summative score is assigned using the summative score from the most recent comprehensive evaluation. This score becomes the focused summative evaluation score for any of the subsequent years following the comprehensive summative evaluation in which the certificated classroom teacher is placed on a focused evaluation. Should a teacher provide evidence of exemplary practice on the chosen focus criterion, a Level 4 (Distinguished) score may be awarded by the evaluator.

A teacher may be transferred from a Focused Evaluation to a Comprehensive Evaluation at the request of the teacher or at the direction of the teacher's evaluator. Should an evaluator determine that a teacher on a Focused Evaluation should be moved to a Comprehensive Evaluation for that school year, the teacher must be informed of this decision in writing at any time on or before December 15

Section 13 - Non-Classroom Teacher Evaluation

The following sections will apply only to Speech Language Pathologists, OT, PT, Nurses, Psychologists, Counselors, Librarians, Instructional Coaches, and other bargaining unit members who do not meet the definition of classroom teacher. In the event a new assignment is created during the life of this agreement, the parties will meet and determine the appropriate evaluation system based on the definition in Section 2 (above).

A. Evaluation

1. Definition: Short Form Evaluation may occur for any employee who has been employed by the District for four (4) years with satisfactory evaluations. During subsequent years of employment short form employees will be required to complete a long form evaluation once every four years.

- 2. Frequency of Evaluation: Employees using the Short Form Evaluation shall be evaluated one (1) time per year. The evaluation shall be completed no later than June 1. With mutual agreement, this timeline may be extended.
- 3. Observations: Employees using the Short Form Evaluation shall be observed for the purpose of evaluation at least one (1) time for a period of no less than thirty (30) minutes, or a final annual written evaluation based on the appropriate criteria and based on at least two observation periods totaling at least 60 minutes.
- 4. Negative Evaluation Bar: The short form evaluation may not be used as a basis for determining that an employee's work is unsatisfactory, nor as probable cause for the nonrenewal of an employee's contract under RCW 28A.405.210 or RCW 28A.405.220. The short form evaluation may be used only in those cases where the evaluator reports "satisfactory".
- 5. Removal from Short Form: The evaluator or the employee may require the use of the long form evaluation. A change to long form must be preceded by at least one (1) meeting to discuss the need to change, an opportunity for response and the decision. The change to long form evaluation must be completed prior to December 15th.

B. Long Form Evaluation

- 1. Definition: Long Form Evaluation shall be utilized for any provisional employee or employee who does not qualify for short form evaluation. The evaluator or employee may require the use of the long form evaluation.
- 2. Frequency of Evaluation: Long form employees shall be evaluated at least one (1) time each year, which evaluation shall be completed no later than Prior to June 1. With mutual agreement, this timeline may be extended.

3. Formal Observations:

1. The first of at least two (2) pre-arranged formal observations for each employee shall be conducted within the first ninety (90) calendar days for provisional employees or by January 15th for non-provisional employees on long form. The total annual observation time cannot be less than sixty (60) minutes.

- 2. Employees in the third year of provisional status must be observed for an additional thirty (30) minutes, for a total observation time for the school year of no less than ninety (90) minutes.
- 3. If mutually agreed upon, the second thirty (30) minutes of required observation may be broken into smaller time increments. Only one pre-observation conference will be required for that series of observations.
- 4. The evaluator will provide a written summary and provide a copy to the employee within three (3) days following the completion of said summary.
- 5. The final formal observation shall occur prior to May 15th unless both parties agree to a later date.
- 4. Post-Observation Conference Formal Observation

A post-observation conference shall be held following a formal observation or series of observations. If the teacher and evaluator have mutually agreed to break the remaining thirty (30) minutes of observation into shorter time increments, only one post-observation conference will be required for that series of observations.

If there is an area of concern, the evaluator will identify specific concerns for the applicable criteria and provide specific observable solutions to remedy the concern in writing. The teacher has the opportunity to attach written comments to the observation notes within 10 school days of having received them.

5. Informal Observations

- 1. An informal observation is a documented observation that is not required to be pre-scheduled. Additional informal observations may be necessary to collect additional evidence.
- 2. Informal observations do not have to be in the classroom. Department or collegial meetings may be used for Informal Observations.
- 3. If the evidence is to be used in the evaluation process, the teacher will be notified in writing.

C. General Requirements

- 1. Work Site Limit: All observations for the purpose of evaluation must be conducted at the employee's normal work site.
- 2. Signatures: The written observation report(s) and the written evaluation report(s) must be signed and dated by the observer and the evaluator respectively. Such reports are also to be signed and dated by the employee, provided that the employee's signature shall indicate only that he/she has received a copy of the observation and/or evaluation, not that he/she necessarily agrees with its content.
- 3. Copy and Response: A copy of each observation shall be given to the observed employee within ten (10) school days of the observation. A copy of the evaluation shall be given to the employee by June 1. This timeline by be extended with mutual agreement. Within ten (10) school days, the employee may submit written comments concerning the report which shall be attached to the report in the employee's file.
- 4. Unsatisfactory Items: Any item on the Evaluation Form that is marked with an "Unsatisfactory" must have been preceded with a written statement and/or formal conference with the employee in order to provide notice of the problem, specific suggestions for improvement, and reasonable time and opportunity for improvement.
- 5. Probation for Non-Classroom Teachers:

At any time after October 15, a non-classroom teacher whose work is judged not satisfactory shall be placed on probation and notified in writing of the specific areas of deficiencies and provided a suggested written specific and reasonable plan of improvement.

- a. A non-classroom teacher's work is not judged satisfactory, and therefore shall be placed on probation, when there have been two consecutive years of unsatisfactory evaluations, or two unsatisfactory evaluations in any of three consecutive years.
- b. Non-classroom teachers may only be placed on probation from the Comprehensive evaluation system described above.
- c. In the event that an evaluator determines that the performance of a teacher under his/her supervision

merits probation, the evaluator shall report the same in writing to the Superintendent. The report shall include the following:

- 1. The evaluation report prepared pursuant to the provisions of Section 6 above (Procedural Components of Evaluation) and excluding provisions that pertain exclusively to classroom teachers.
- 2. A recommended specific and reasonable program designed to assist the teacher in improving his or her performance.
- d. If the Superintendent concurs with the evaluator's judgment that the performance of the employee is unsatisfactory, the Superintendent shall place the teacher in a probationary status for a period of not less than sixty (60) school days, any time after October 15. The probationary period may extend into the following school year if the teacher has more than five (5) years of teaching experience and has a comprehensive summative rating as of May 15th of Unsatisfactory. Before being placed on probation, the Association and the teacher shall be given notice of action of the Superintendent which shall contain the following information:
 - 1. Specific areas of performance deficiencies identified;
 - 2. A suggested specific and reasonable program for improvement;
 - 3. A statement indicating the duration of the probationary period and that the purpose of the probationary period is to give the teacher the opportunity to demonstrate improvement in his or her area or areas of deficiency.
- e. The establishment of the probationary period and the giving of the notice to the employee shall be by the School District Superintendent and need not be submitted to the Board of Directors for approval.
- f. A plan of improvement will be developed and will include the specific areas of deficiency along with specific and reasonable program for improvement. The

plan will also include assistance to be provided. The teacher and/or his or her Association representative may request modification of the program for improvement prior to program implementation. The plan will include a system for periodic feedback during the term of probation, supports, and the dates those supports will be put in place.

- g. Evaluation During the Probationary Period
 - 1. At or about the time of the delivery of a probationary letter, the evaluator shall hold a personal conference with the probationary teacher to discuss performance deficiencies and the remedial measures to be taken.
 - 2. Once the areas of deficiency and criteria for improvement for the probation plan have been determined, they may not be changed.
 - 3. During the probationary period the evaluator shall meet with the probationary teacher at least twice monthly to supervise and make a written evaluation of the progress, if any, made by the teacher. All observations made during the probationary period will be documented and shared with the teacher within 10 school days of the observation.
 - 4. The probationary teacher may be removed from probation at any time if he or she has demonstrated improvement to the satisfaction of the evaluator in those areas specifically detailed in his/her notice of probation.
 - 5. Should the evaluator not authorize an additional evaluator, the probationary teacher may request that an additional certificated evaluator become part of the probationary process and the request must be granted. This evaluator will be assigned by the ESD and will be jointly selected by the District and the Association from a list of evaluation specialists compiled by the ESD.
 - 6. The Association reserves the right to use a third party evaluator to inform the Association of any progress made by the probationer. The Association will notify the district-appointed

evaluator in advance of any observations that will occur by the third party evaluator.

- h. A teacher who is on a plan of improvement must be removed from probation if he or she has demonstrated improvement in the areas prescribed as deficient. The teacher must be removed from probation if a teacher achieves a satisfactory evaluation.
- i. Lack of necessary improvement during the established probationary period, as specifically documented in writing with notification to the probationer constitutes grounds for a finding of probable cause under RCW 28.A.405.210.
- j. Evaluator's Post-Probation Report Unless the probationary teacher has previously been removed from probation, the evaluator shall submit a written report to the Superintendent at the end of the probationary period which report shall set forth one (1) of the following recommendations for further action:
 - 1. That the teacher has demonstrated sufficient improvement in the stated areas of deficiency to justify the removal of the probationary status; or
 - 2. That the teacher has demonstrated sufficient improvement in the stated areas of deficiency to justify the removal of the probationary status if accompanied by a letter identifying areas where further improvement is required; or
 - 3. A probation period may be extended into the following school year if a teacher has five or more years of experience and has a comprehensive summative evaluation performance rating unsatisfactory.
 - 4. That the teacher has not demonstrated sufficient improvement in the stated areas of deficiency and action should be taken to non-renew the employment contract of the teacher.
- k. Action of the Superintendent Following a review of the post-probation report the Superintendent shall determine which of the alternative courses of action is proper and shall take appropriate action to implement such determination.

- I. Records of probation and supporting documentation for an unsatisfactory evaluation will be maintained in the teacher's file for five full years of service, and will, if no further unsatisfactory analysis is made in the interim, be removed and destroyed.
- m. If a procedural error occurs in the implementation of the probationer's plan for improvement, the error does not invalidate the plan for improvement or evaluation activities unless the error materially affects the effectiveness of the plan or the ability to evaluate the probationer's performance.
- n. Immediately following the completion of a probationary period that does not produce performance changes detailed in the initial notice of deficiencies and program for improvement, the teacher may be removed from his or her assignment and placed into an alternative assignment for the remainder of the school year. This reassignment may not displace another employee nor may it adversely affect the probationary employee's compensation or benefits for the remainder of the employee's contract year. If such reassignment is not possible, the District may, at its option, place the employee on paid leave for the balance of the contract term.

MOUNT VERNON SCHOOL DISTRICT A TEACHER FORM FINAL EVALUATION REPORT

			Type of Evaluation: Annual			
Name:						
School:				Short Form Annual		
Assignment:(If less than full t	ime nlease	 snecify)		Other		
(ii icss than run t	illic, picasc	эрсспу)				
It is my judgment, based upon performance has been in this report. (satisfactor	adopted ry/unsatisfa	criteria, during actory)	that this the eval	employee's o uation period co	verall vered	
Principal's Signature		O	bservatio	n Date	•	
This evaluation is based in whole evaluation which occurred on the fo			servation	s for the purpo	se of	
CRITERIA	STRENGTHS, WEAKNESSES, SUGGESTIONS FOR IMPROVEMENT					
(Refer to List of Adopted Criteria)						
	Sat Ur	ısat				
PROFESSIONAL						
PREPARATION/SCHOLARSHIP						
INSTRUCTIONAL SKILL						
KNOWLEDGE OF SUBJECT MATTER						
CLASSROOM MANAGEMENT					-	
HANDLING OF STUDENT DISCIPLINE AND ATTENDANCE PROBLEMS INTEREST IN TEACHING PUPILS					_	
EFFORT TOWARD IMPROVEMENT WHEN NEEDED						
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:						
My signature below indicates that I indicate agreement with the finding		n this evalu	ıation. It	does not neces	sarily	
Employee Signature	-	Date				

revised: 7/99

MOUNT VERNON SCHOOL DISTRICT A SUPPORT SPECIALIST FORM FINAL EVALUATION REPORT

Name:			• •	of Evalu	uation: Annual	
School:					_	
Assignment:					Short Form An	nual
(If less than full t	ime, plea	ase specify)			_ Other	
It is my judgment, based upor performance has been (satisf	adopte	ed criteria duri nsatisfacto	, that ng the ry)	this evalua	employee's ition period	overall covered
•	• •		•			
Principal's Signature	Observation Date					
This evaluation is based in whole evaluation which occurred on the fo			bserva	tions	for the pu	rpose of
CRITERIA	STRENGTHS, WEAKNESSES, SUGGESTIONS FOR IMPROVEMENT					
(Refer to List of Adopted Criteria)				ach catego checked	ry where	
	Sat	Unsat				
KNOWLEDGE OF SCHOLARSHIP IN SPECIAL FIELD						
SPECIALIZED SKILLS						
MANAGEMENT OF SPECIAL AND TECHNICAL ENVIRONMENT						
THE SUPPORT PERSON AS A PROFESSIONAL						
INVOLVEMENT IN ASSISTING PUPILS, PARENT AND EDUCATIONAL PERSONNEL						
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:		•				
My signature below indicates that indicate agreement with the finding		een this eva	aluation	n. It c	loes not ne	cessarily
Employee Signature		Date				_

ARTICLE VIII. MEDIATION/GRIEVANCE

Section 1. Procedure

The purpose of this procedure is to provide a means for the orderly adjustment of disputes concerning District employees covered under the terms of this Agreement.

A. Definitions, as used in this statement:

Mediation: Mediation is a confidential process by which the disputants involved in the potential grievance, voluntarily participate to negotiate a mutually agreed upon written resolution. Mediation shall be arranged and conducted by trained MVEA mediators and/or District mediators.

<u>Grievance</u>: A dispute by an employee or the Association President concerning the interpretation or application of the terms of the Agreement. A grievance brought by the Association President may move automatically to Step 3.

B. "Days" as used herein shall mean District business days.

C. Time Limits

Failure of the District to act in a timely manner will automatically move the grievance to the next higher step for consideration. Failure of the grievant to act in a timely manner will nullify the grievant's claim at any step level. Time limits prescribed herein may be extended by mutual consent of the parties.

Should mediation be pursued by the disputants, all time limits described in Section 2 will be suspended pending the outcome of the mediation effort.

D. Representation

The grievant may be represented by a representative of the Association provided, that any employee at any time may present his grievance to the employer and have such grievance adjusted without the intervention of the exclusive bargaining representative, as long as such representative has been given an opportunity to be present at that adjustment and to make his/her views known, and as long as the adjustment is not inconsistent with the terms of the Collective Bargaining Agreement.

E. Freedom from Reprisal

There shall be no reprisals by the School District or administrative personnel against any aggrieved party or local association representative for reason of his/her participation in the processing of a mediation or grievance in accordance with the provisions of RCW 41.59.140

F. Assistance in Investigations

The District will supply the grievant, upon request, such information as is reasonably required for investigation or processing of the specified alleged grievance.

G. Release from Duty

If attendance at mutually scheduled meetings, hearings or appeals relating to the mediation/grievance adjustment process as a grievant, witness, or a mediator, requires a certificated employee's (as covered by this Agreement) absence from his/her duty assignment, he/she shall be released without loss of pay. The Association shall reimburse the District for the cost of the substitute for the Association Representative.

Section 2. Steps

A. Step I

An employee shall first present his/her grievance to his/her supervisor for settlement. Such presentation shall be made within thirty (30) days; a) following the occurrence of the event giving rise to the grievance, or; b) after it first became known to the employee. The supervisor shall, within ten (10) days thereafter, provide the employee his/her answer to the grievance.

Mediation Option

At any step in the grievance process, if the dispute is not resolved a disputant shall contact the MVEA president to assess the viability of the mediation option. Mediation will be arranged by the MVEA/District mediators. All arrangements for the time, setting and participants will be the responsibility of the mediators.

B. Step II

If the grievance is not resolved to the grievant's satisfaction in accordance with the preceding subsection, the grievant has ten (10) days after talking to his/her supervisor to move the grievance

forward by submitting it in writing to his/her supervisor. A statement of the grievance shall contain the following:

- 1. The facts on which the grievance is based;
- 2. A reference to the specific provisions in this Agreement which have been allegedly violated;

3. Remedy sought.

The grievant shall submit the written statement of grievance to his/her immediate supervisor for reconsideration and shall submit a copy to the official in the administration responsible for personnel. The parties will have ten (10) days from submission of the written statement of grievance to resolve it through meeting(s). A written statement indicating a disposition of the grievance shall be furnished to the aggrieved.

C. Step III

If no settlement has been reached within the ten (10) days referred to in Step II, and the grievant believes the grievance to be valid, the grievant shall submit a written statement of his/her grievance to the District's Superintendent or designee within fifteen (15) days. After such submission, the parties will have fifteen (15) days to resolve the grievance through meeting(s). A written statement indicating the disposition of the grievance shall be furnished the aggrieved.

D. Step IV

If no settlement is reached in Step III, then the grievant may, in writing, within ten (10) days thereafter, request that the matter be submitted to an arbiter for prompt hearing as hereinafter provided in D.1 to D.4 listed below and inclusive:

1. Request for arbitrator:

- a. Written notice of a request for arbitration shall be made to the Superintendent within ten (10) days of receipt of the decision in Step III.
- b. The issue must involve the interpretation or application of a specific provision of this Agreement.
- 2. When a timely request has been made for arbitration, the parties may agree to select an impartial arbiter to hear and decide the particular case. If this process is acceptable, the arbiter shall be mutually selected within five (5) days after

submission of the written request for arbitration. If it is not possible, within this time frame, or if selection as contained herein is not mutually acceptable, the provisions of D.3. shall apply.

- 3. In the event an arbiter is not agreed upon as provided in D.2., the parties shall jointly request the American Arbitration Association to submit a panel of seven (7) arbiters. Such request shall state the general nature of the case and ask the nominees be qualified to handle the type of case involved. When notification of the names of the seven (7) arbiters is received, the parties, in turn, shall have the right to delete a name from the panel until only one (1) name remains. The remaining person shall be the arbiter. The right to delete the first name from the panel shall be determined by lot. The process shall be completed within five (5) days of receipt of the list.
- 4. Arbitration proceedings shall be in accordance with the following:
 - a. The arbiter shall hear and accept pertinent evidence submitted by both parties and shall be empowered to request such data as the arbiter deems pertinent to the grievance and shall render a decision in writing to both parties within twenty (20) days (unless mutually extended) of the completion of the hearing.
 - b. The arbiter shall be authorized to rule and issue a decision in writing on the issue presented for arbitration which decision shall be final and binding on both parties.
 - c. The arbiter shall rule on the basis of information presented in the hearing and on the basis of the arguments and contentions of the parties as set forth in any pre- and post-hearing briefs and shall refuse to receive any evidence after the hearing except by mutual agreement.
 - d. Each party to the proceedings may call such witnesses as may be necessary in the order in which their testimony is to be heard. Such testimony shall be pertinent to the matters set forth in the written statement of grievance. The arguments of the parties may be supported by oral comment and rebuttal. Such arguments of the parties, whether oral or written, shall

be pertinent to and directed at the matters set forth in the grievance.

- e. Each party shall pay any compensation and expenses relating to its own witnesses or representative.
- f. The costs for the services of the arbitrator, if any, including per diem expenses, if any, and his travel and subsistence expenses and the cost of any hearing room, will be borne equally by the Board and the Association. All other costs will be borne by the party incurring them.
- g. The total costs of the stenographic record (if requested) will be paid by the party requesting it. If the other party also requests a copy, that party will pay one-half of the stenographic costs.
- 5. All decisions arrived at under the provisions of this Step IV, by the representatives of the District and the Association, or the arbiter, shall be final and binding upon both parties, provided, however, in arriving at such decisions neither of the parties nor the arbiter shall have the authority to alter this Agreement in whole or in part.

6. Exclusion of Certain Matters

Matters for which another method of review is required by law and/or exempted by the terms of this Agreement shall be excluded from this Grievance Procedure.

ARTICLE IX. DURATION - Term of Agreement

The Agreements expressed herein constitute the entire Agreement between the parties and no oral statement shall add to or supersede any of its provisions.

This Agreement may be opened for amendment(s) by the mutual consent of both parties. Requests for such amendment(s) by either party must be in writing.

This agreement shall be retroactively effective September 1, 2017, pending MVEA and School Board approval and shall be binding upon the Board, the Mount Vernon Education Association and its members and shall remain in full force and effect through August 31, 2018.

The intention of bargaining is to have a non-bargainable concept of full pass-through of state authorized and funded salary and benefit monies for the term of this agreement. It is also clear that the following sentence will accommodate any major legislative change in the salary allocation schedule:

If, during the term of this Agreement, there are any new benefits or programs as a result of legislation, either party may submit proposals.

The parties hereto have signed this Agreement this October, 2017.

5th day of

For Mount Vernon Education Association

For Mount Vernon School District No. 320

Paul Hope

Carl Bruner

Secretary/Superintendent

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING ASSESSMENT COMMITTEE

To increase opportunities for instruction the parties express a joint committee to review assessments. Our shared interest is to conform with law where applicable, engage students in meaningful, relevant assessments, limit infringement on instructional time, and ensure that assessments provide important summative and formative value for teachers, families and district leadership.

The committee will share proposed assessments and establish a calendar each year. This calendar will provide dates and times for those tests that originate at the District level, including those that are mandated by the State.

The committee will discuss assessment workload implications and supports available to conduct various assessments.

This Memorandum of Understanding will sunset at the conclusion of this bargaining agreement.

Carl Bruner, Superintendent
For Mount Vernon School District

Paul Hope

For Mount Vernon Education Association

Data

Date

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING Extra Days for Specialists

The following groups will be compensated for extra days worked before or after the student school year, and for additional meetings required by their discipline with pay at per diem in the following amounts:

Psychologists	10 days
High School Counselors	8 days
Other Counselors	4 days
Special Education Teachers	4 days
Librarian	3 days
Nurses	4 days
Occupational Therapists	3 days
Speech Language Pathologists	3 days
Physical Therapists	3 days

In addition, high school counselors and nurses will be eligible for the flex days to compensate for time worked beyond the formulas provided above. These flex days will be arranged with the building principal.

are Leur					
Carl Bruner, Superintendent	Paul Hope				
For Mount Vernon School District	For Mount Vernon Education Association				

 $\frac{10/5-17}{\text{Date}}$

APPENDIX III

REQUEST FOR WAIVER OF COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT

In accordance with Article I, Section 4A of the MVSD/MVEA Collective Bargaining Agreement (CBA), any waiver to CBA language requires the signature of the MVSD superintendent and the MVEA president.

To apply for a waiver, complete the following information and submit to either the MVEA president or the MVSD superintendent. The process of responding to a waiver request may take several weeks.

Name(s) of applicant(s):	
(include citation)	
Waiver sought:	
Building(s)/member(s) affected by waiver: _	
Duration of waiver:	
Rationale for waiver:(Use back if necessary)	
President, Mount Vernon Education Association	Superintendent, Mount Vernon School District No. 320

Mount Vernon School District Professional Learning Communities Guidelines

Professional Learning Community (PLC) Definitions

The Mount Vernon School District and the Mount Vernon Education Association believe that PLCs should be meaningful and relevant to staff, and align with current research and best practices. Collaboration is a systemic process in which employees work together, interdependently, to analyze and impact their professional practice in order to improve individual and collective student growth. The work of the PLC will be grounded in the four guiding questions:

- What is essential for students to know?
- How will we know when students have learned the material?
- What intervention will we put in place when students don't learn the material?
- What do we do if students already know the material?

PLC Guidelines

- PLCs consist of staff members who share an instructional focus
- PLC work is determined by the team itself, guided by the four questions
- PLCs must meet at a District site; staff members should inform their principal if they are meeting away from their assigned building
- Are supported by principals and others
- Individual staff members will select the PLC(s) in which they affiliate
- Staff members have the opportunity to participate in more than one PLC, recognizing that effective PLCs require continuity
- Must address one or more of the four essential questions with the intention that each question is addressed in the course of collaborative planning and reflection
- PLCs communicate to the building and with the principal about their activities (no form required)

The District and the Association understand that certain staff members are not easily associated with traditional (job alike) PLCs, for example, specialists or assigned to multiple buildings. For such staff, the PLC structure may need to be adjusted to best meet their needs. Some examples of differentiation for such staff may be:

- Staff may be part of an inappropriate PLC of their choice within their building
- Staff could form a PLC with staff from other buildings based on instructional focus
- Staff could form a PLC focusing on topics other than specific curriculum, i.e. high yield strategies, classroom management, etc.

In some cases it may be more appropriate for staff to use a combination of these options.

The purpose and goals of the PLC will be guided by the following framework:

- The work of the PLCs will be an ongoing process of collective inquire and action research to support student growth.
- PLC teams recognize the importance of data and will use data to inform the decision and work of the team.
- Leadership will be shared and distributed among the participants of each PLC team. Sharing leadership among team members increase capacity and builds a belief in the school's collective ability to positively affect student learning.
- A major focus of the PLC is on student learning where employees work and learn together, as they reflect on the effectiveness of their practice and needs, interests and skills of their students.

Collaborative teams engage in collective inquiry into their practice by:

- Examining data on student progress;
- Analyzing student work;
- Determining effective strategies to facilitate learning;
- Determining professional development to facilitate student learning;
- Designing and critiquing powerful lessons;
- Developing student growth goals based on student achievement data;
- Sharing work with team members;
- Reflecting on the efficacy of their practice.



Mount Vernon School District No. 320 **2017-2018 TRI Schedule based on Leap 1sb Salary Schedule**

32.2% of Base Salary

*2.5% Longevity Increase at step 20 and 25 years

Years of									MA+90 or
Service	BA	BA+15	BA+30	BA+45	BA+90	BA+135*	MA	MA+45	Ph.D.
0	11,760	12,077	12,406	12,736	13,794	14,476	14,099	15,157	15,840
1	11,918	12,240	12,573	12,918	13,987	14,665	14,256	15,325	16,002
2	12,069	12,394	12,731	13,102	14,168	14,853	14,413	15,480	16,165
3	12,224	12,553	12,893	13,276	14,340	15,041	14,563	15,626	16,328
4	12,377	12,719	13,062	13,458	14,528	15,235	14,720	15,790	16,497
5	12,534	12,878	13,224	13,642	14,709	15,430	14,879	15,946	16,667
6	12,696	13,033	13,390	13,829	14,891	15,615	15,043	16,104	16,828
7	12,980	13,322	13,684	14,147	15,224	15,969	15,348	16,425	17,170
8	13,396	13,757	14,128	14,629	15,721	16,493	15,830	16,922	17,694
9	13,396	14,207	14,597	15,116	16,233	17,031	16,316	17,434	18,233
10	13,396	14,207	15,071	15,628	16,760	17,585	16,829	17,961	18,785
11	13,396	14,207	15,071	16,154	17,311	18,153	17,355	18,512	19,353
12	13,396	14,207	15,071	16,664	17,877	18,744	17,903	19,079	19,945
13	13,396	14,207	15,071	16,664	18,458	19,350	18,470	19,659	20,551
14	13,396	14,207	15,071	16,664	19,041	19,979	19,053	20,280	21,180
15	13,396	14,207	15,071	16,664	19,536	20,499	19,549	20,807	21,730
16	13,396	14,207	15,071	16,664	19,927	20,908	19,940	21,223	22,165
20*	14,437	15,310	16,241	17,958	21,474	22,531	21,488	22,871	23,886
25*	15,477	16,413	17,411	19,252	23,021	24,155	23,036	24,519	25,607

JOB SHARING APPLICATION INSTRUCTIONS

ITEMS TO BE INCLUDED IN JOB-SHARING APPLICATION
The final proposal is due April 1 to the principal.

The application should address all of the items needed to share the duties and responsibilities of one position, including but not limited to the following criteria.

- 1. The agreement on an acceptable division of the teaching assignment. Principals and teachers should work together to determine divisions that provide the greatest instructional benefit and least disruption to the educational program of students.
- 2. When and how job-sharing partners are going to provide for joint planning.
- 3. Division of teaching tasks, including subject matter to assure appropriate coverage of standards and District curriculum.
- 4. Basic ground rules for discipline.
- 5. How the following details will be covered so that both parties are informed and have opportunity for contribution:
 - A. Faculty meetings
 - B. Parent conferences
 - C. Reporting student progress
 - D. Professional Development activities/inservice opportunities
 - E. Open House or Curriculum Night
 - F. First and last day of school
 - G. Substituting/exchange of days
 - H. IEP conferences and other meetings related to job assignment
- 6. Communications system:
 - A. Between job share applicants
 - B. With building administration
 - C. With parents
 - D. With students
 - E. With colleagues

Comprehensive Evaluation – Marzano – Certificated Classroom

- Districts create procedures and practices to establish criterion scores and the eight criterion are summed equally to create a summative rating.
- Criterion scores include applicable framework rubrics and Washington state student growth rubrics
- The student growth impact rating is the sum of the three student growth rubric components from criteria 3, 6, and 8.
- *Educators with a "Distinguished" summative rating and a "Low" student growth impact rating cannot be rated higher than "Proficient."*
- A "Low" student growth impact rating triggers a student growth inquiry regardless of the summative rating.
- Educators with any individual student growth component score of a "1" cannot have a student growth impact rating higher than "Low" regardless of the sum of all their student growth components.

